
 

 

  

Holly A. Swenk, Ward 1 

Dennis Boose, Ward 2 

Bruce F. Abens, Ward 3/President Pro-Tem 

Clifford Winkel, Ward 4 

Georgia Awig, At-Large 

Martin DeVries, At-Large 

Jason Jacobs, President of Council 

Nicholas Ciofani, Clerk of Council 
Fijabi Gallam, CMC, Assistant Clerk of Council 

CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, June 06, 2022, at 7:00 P.M. 
 

You can view this meeting live on our YouTube channel at: 

www.youtube.com/channel/UCThTaGFRof_AOvxSYAzMNYg 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  
 

2. INVOCATION:    
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 

4. ROLL CALL:       
 

5. MINUTES - Corrections (if any) and approval: 
 

City Council Meeting Minutes dated May 16, 2022 
(Council action required)   

 

Please note: 

Safety Committee Meeting Minutes dated January 31, 2022 

Civil Service Meeting Minutes dated May 23, 2022 

Board of Zoning and Building Appeals Meeting Minutes dated May 26, 2022 

Parks and Recreation Commission Meeting Minutes dated April 27, 2022 

Special Planning commission Meeting Minutes dated May 19, 2022 

 

6. LOBBY: 

 

7. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORTS: 

  
A. Mayor 

 

B. Safety-Service Director  
 

C. Engineer 

 

D. Auditor 

 

 

http://www.youtube.com/channel/UCThTaGFRof_AOvxSYAzMNYg


North Ridgeville City Council 

Agenda – Regular Meeting June 6, 2022 2 

1st Ordinance No.  5955-2022 

1st Resolution No.  1570-2022 

1st Temporary No. 92-2022 

E. Other Reports

Please Note:  

April 2022 Police Department Report 

April 2022 Parks and Recreation Director Report 

8. COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORT(S):

SAFETY COMMITTEE REPORT dated May 31, 2022 –The committee made a motion to

table T 84-2022 for later discussion, and made a motion to have the Law Department draft

legislation to amend certain sections of N.R.C.O Chapter 476, Snowmobiles, Off-Highway

Motorcycles and All-Purpose Vehicles with the requested changes and for the Clerk to add a

new temporary number to be introduced.
(Council action required)

9. CORRESPONDENCE:

10. OLD BUSINESS:

11. NEW BUSINESS:

Planning Commission report of Thursday, May 19, 2022:

Beckett Thermal, Inc., 38000 Beckett Pkwy North, PPN 07-00-038-000-330

Applicant: Greg Baker, Beckett Thermal Inc., 38000 Beckett Parkway North, North

Ridgeville, OH, 44039. Proposal consists of constructing a pre-assembled temporary

laboratory for burner testing. Property is zoned I-3.

PC ACTION: Approved by a vote of 3-0
(Council approval required)

12. RECESS:

Ordinance and Resolution submittal(s) 

13. FIRST READINGS:

T 87-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING EXHIBIT B OF ORDINANCE 5596-2018 AND 

SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS THERETO IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH THE 

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS AFFORDED TO DEPARTMENT HEADS 

AND CERTAIN DISCRETIONARY EMPLOYEES. 
(Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

T 88-2022  AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF NORTH 

RIDGEVILLE, OHIO, TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH THE OHIO 

PATROLMEN’S BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION (SERGEANTS AND 

LIEUTENANTS) (GOLD UNIT). 
(Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 



North Ridgeville City Council 

Agenda – Regular Meeting June 6, 2022 3 

 

1st Ordinance No.  5955-2022 

1st Resolution No.  1570-2022 

1st Temporary No. 92-2022 

 

T 89-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NUMBER 5889-2021 OF THE 

CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE, OHIO, PROVIDING APPROPRIATIONS FOR 

THE PERIOD COMMENCING JANUARY 1, 2022 AND ENDING DECEMBER 

31, 2022. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

T 90-2022  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE REPAYMENT OF 

FUND ADVANCES. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

T 91-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING NORTH RIDGEVILLE CODIFIED 

ORDINANCE SECTION 1650.04(b) AS A RESULT OF RECENTLY PASSED 

STATE LAW CONCERNING THE DISCHARGE OF FIREWORKS. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

14. SECOND READINGS: 

 

T 79-2022  AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ADVERTISE FOR BIDS 

AND ENTER INTO A CONTRACT ACCORDING TO LAW AND IN A 

MANNER PRESCRIBED BY LAW WITH THE LOWEST AND BEST BIDDER 

FOR THE 2022 TRAFFIC PAINT STRIPING AND OTHER APPURTENANCES, 

NOT TO EXCEED $100,000.00. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 5/16/2022) 

 

T 82-2022  A RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 1548-2021, WHICH 

AUTHORIZED THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE TO 

ENTER INTO A COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT WITH LORAIN COUNTY FOR 

THE REPLACEMENT OF CASE ROAD BRIDGE #0083 AND THE ADJACENT 

RETAINING WALL, BY INCREASING THE CITY’S PORTION OF THIS 

PROJECT FROM $56,630.00 TO $100,000.00. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 5/16/2022) 

 

T 83-2022  AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING CERTAIN STREETS/IMPROVEMENTS 

LOCATED IN THE RESERVE AT WINFIELD FARM SUBDIVISION PHASE 2, 

AND DEDICATING THEM FOR PUBLIC PURPOSES. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 5/16/2022) 

 

15. THIRD READINGS:  

 

T 57-2022  AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 660.12 FENCES OF THE NORTH 

RIDGEVILLE GENERAL OFFENSES CODE. 
   (Introduced by Councilman DeVries, Referred to Planning Commission Committee on 4/4/2022; Referred to 

Building & Lands Committee on 4/4/2022: Planning Commission met on 4/12/2022: Building & Lands 

Committee met on 4/25/2022: Council approved the Commission report on 4/18/2022; Council accepted the 

Committee report on 5/2/2022; Second Reading on 5/16/2022; Public Hearing held on 6/6/2022) 

 

 

 

 



North Ridgeville City Council 

Agenda – Regular Meeting June 6, 2022 4 

 

1st Ordinance No.  5955-2022 

1st Resolution No.  1570-2022 

1st Temporary No. 92-2022 

T 58-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING VARIOUS SECTIONS OF CHAPTER 1294 

SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS OF THE NORTH RIDGEVILLE ZONING 

CODE IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE CITY’S FENCE REGULATIONS. 
 (Introduced by Councilman DeVries, Referred to Planning Commission Committee on 4/4/2022; Referred to 

Building & Lands Committee on 4/4/2022: Planning Commission met on 4/12/2022: Building & Lands 

Committee met on 4/25/2022: Council approved the Commission report on 4/18/2022; Council accepted the 

Committee report on 5/2/2022; Second Reading on 5/16/2022; Public Hearing held on 6/6/2022) 

 

T 64-2022  AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING NORTH RIDGEVILLE CODIFIED 

ORDINANCE 1046, WATER. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 4/04/2022; Referred to Utilities Committee on 4/4/2022; 

Utilities Committee Meeting on 4/18/2022; Council accepted the Committee report on 5/2/2022; Second Reading 

on 5/16/2022) 

 

16.  MEETING ANNOUNCEMENTS:  

 

 The next Regular Council meeting will be on Monday, June 20, 2022, at 7:00 p.m. in 

City Council Chambers. 

 

17. ADJOURN: 



 

 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING MINUTES 

May 16, 2022 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  
 

President Jacobs called the Monday, May 16, 2022, Council meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

INVOCATION:   

 

Led by President Jacobs. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:   

 

Led by President Jacobs. 

 

ROLL CALL:  

 

Present were Council members President Jason Jacobs, Holly A. Swenk, Dennis Boose, 

President Pro-Tem Bruce Abens, Clifford Winkel, Georgia Awig, and Martin DeVries.  

 

Also present were Mayor Kevin Corcoran, Safety Service Director Jeffry Armbruster, Law 

Director Brian Moriarty, City Engineer Dan Rodriguez, Auditor April Wilkerson, Clerk of 

Council Nicholas Ciofani, and Assistant Clerk of Council Fijabi Gallam. 

 

MINUTES - Corrections (if any) and approval: 

 

President Jacobs asked if there were any corrections to the City Council meeting minutes dated 

May 2, 2022. No discussion was offered.  The meeting minutes stand approved as submitted. 

 

President Jacobs asked if there were any corrections to the Special City Council meeting minutes 

dated May 9, 2022. No discussion was offered.  The meeting minutes stand approved as 

submitted. 

 

President Jacobs noted that the Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes dated April 18, 2022, Parks 

and Recreation Commission Meeting Minutes dated March 23, 2022, and Planning Commission 

and Building & Lands Committee Work Session Minutes dated May 10, 2022, were provided to 

City Council.  

 

LOBBY: 

 

President Jacobs opened the lobby session.  He asked anyone that would like to speak to come to 

the podium and state their name and address for the record.  He further added that each person is 

allowed three minutes to speak. 

 

 

 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 2 of 11 
 

 

Truck Traffic in the City 

 

Albert Krage, at 37903 Sugar Ridge Road, expressed his concerns regarding truck traffic issues 

that are ongoing in his neighborhood. The trucks are destroying the roads and he does not see an 

aggressive approach from the City on the truck issue. He expressed that it is a safety issue. Mr. 

Krage noted that he took pictures of the trucks being in places they are not supposed to be. Mr. 

Krage gave the pictures he took of the trucks to Mayor Corcoran.  

 

ADMINISTRATORS REPORTS:       

                             

A. Mayor:  
 

Mayor Corcoran noted that he would be requesting the emergency passage for a few pieces of 

legislation (T 67-2022, T 80-2022, and T 81-2022). The Mayor would explain more about each 

legislation later in the meeting. 

 

The Mayor remarked that Lorain County recently announced ARPA Grants for Small 

Businesses. The County has earmarked $3-million to assist small businesses in Lorain County 

that have been negatively impacted or have faced hardship due to the COVID-19 pandemic and 

its related effects on the economy.  Visit the City’s website at nridgeville.org for more 

information on qualifications and how to apply for the grants.  The application deadline is May 

27. 

The Mayor invited the community to join him on Friday, May 20, 2022, from 8:30 to 9:30 a.m., 

in Council Chambers for his monthly coffee and conversation.  

The Mayor reminded everyone that the Memorial Day Parade and Memorial Service are 

scheduled to take place on Monday, May 30, 2022. The parade would begin at 9:45 a.m. at the 

Senior Center and travel down Bainbridge Road and conclude at the Ranger Stadium with the 

Memorial Service in association with the North Ridgeville Lions Club and VFW Post 9871. 

Residents could contact the Lions Club Parade Director Dennis Boose at (440) 327-8528 for 

more information.  

The Mayor added that on May 30, 2022, City Hall is closed in observance of the Memorial Day 

holiday.  Republic Services planned to operate on a one-day delay that week.  Trash collection 

would be on Wednesday, June 1, 2022, citywide. 

Mayor Corcoran remarked that the City would be co-sponsoring the 2022 Freedom Festival and 

Fireworks with Pepco Elyria. The event would be held at Victory Park Ohio, 7777 Victory Lane, 

on Sunday, July 3, 2022, at 5:00 p.m. with activities, entertainment, food and beverages, and 

fireworks at approximately 10:00 p.m.  Tickets are per vehicle and available for purchase online 

in advance only by visiting www.victoryparkohio.com. Early bird pricing is available through 

May 31, 2022. He added that the net proceeds from the 2022 Freedom Festival and Fireworks 

with Pepco Elyria benefit North Ridgeville Community Care and Canine Superheroes 

Foundation.  In 2021, Victory Park Ohio presented North Ridgeville Community Care a 

generous check in the amount of $7,500. 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 3 of 11 
 

 

He added that North Ridgeville Parks & Recreation would be sponsoring Touch-A-Truck on 

Saturday, June 4, 2022, from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. at Shady Drive Complex, 37077 Shady 

Drive.  This is a free event. This unique event encourages children and adults to touch vehicles, 

ask questions and climb inside to get a view from the driver’s seat. The first two hours of the 

event are sensory-friendly without the lights, sirens, and horns. 

Mayor Corcoran concluded his report. 

 

B. Safety-Service Director:  

 

No Report was presented.  

 

C. Engineer:   
  

Engineer Rodriguez provided an update on the following projects: 

 

 Full-depth Concrete Pavement rehabilitation bids recently opened on May 17, 2022. 

Work should begin sometime in mid to late June if the bids come back favorable. 

 The current projects are Eastview Sanitary Sewer Extension, Sugar Ridge Road Sanitary 

Sewer Extension, Barres Road Realignment at Stoney Ridge Road, and State Route 83 & 

Chestnut Ridge Roundabout. 

 Mills Rd, Stoney, and Avalon Peanut Roundabout Project have started the right away 

acquisition. One out of three parcels negations has been completed.  

 Center Ridge Road Sanitary Sewer Extension - construction continues on the Center 

Ridge Road sanitary sewer extension project. The project has approximately 50’ left of 

mainline sanitary sewer to install. 

 Mills Creek Water Main Rehabilitation - Northeast Ohio Trenching Service began 

installing a new 8” water main along Mills Road just west of Mills Creek Lane last week. 

This new 8” main will connect to the new 6” water mains along Scotch Pine Way, Red 

Pine Way, Spruce Pine Way, and White Pine Way to remove dead-end water mains from 

the City’s water distribution system. This work will help with reducing pressure spikes 

and provide better water quality in this area of the City’s distribution system. 

 Water Asset Management Plan - Work has begun on the City’s water asset management 

plan with consultant OHM Advisors. 

 Geographic Information System (GIS) - The City has delivered a draft version of our new 

GIS web portal. The engineering, service, and IT departments will continue to work with 

the Consultant to continue to add data to the system as well as develop applications and 

tools for departmental use. 

 Mill Creek Conservation and Flood Control Project - Ohio Erie Excavating, LLC have 

begun to mobilize equipment to the Mill Creek Conservation and Flood Control Project 

Site north of Boulder Drive. Tree removal is scheduled to begin on or around May 22, 

2022. Tree removal will take approximately 8 weeks according to the contractor’s 

schedule. The completion date of the project is July 31, 2022.   

 

Mr. Rodriguez concluded his report. 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 4 of 11 
 

 

D. Auditor:  
 

Auditor Wilkerson requested the City Council to adopt the following legislation with the 

emergency clause to allow the Auditor’s office to meet its financial obligations. 

 

 T 85-2022 – Then and Now Resolution  

 T 86-2022 – Appropriation Amendment 

 

Auditor Wilkerson concluded his report. 

 

President Jacobs noted the following report: 

 

 April 2022 Financial Report 

 

E. Other Reports:   

 

President Jacobs noted the following reports: 

 

 March 2022 Parks Director Report 

 April 2022 Building Department Report 

 April 2022 Fire Department Report 

 April 2022 Water Distribution and EPA Report 

 April 2022 Mayor’s Court Department Report 

 

CORRESPONDENCE: 

  

 There were none. 

 

OLD BUSINESS:  

 

 There were none. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  

 

 There were none. 

 

RECESS:  

 

Moved by Winkel and seconded by DeVries to dispense with recess. 

 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7  No – 0  

 

 

 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 5 of 11 
 

 

FIRST READINGS:  

Ordinance and Resolution submittal(s)  
 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 79-2022  AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ADVERTISE FOR 

BIDS AND ENTER INTO A CONTRACT ACCORDING TO LAW AND IN A 

MANNER PRESCRIBED BY LAW WITH THE LOWEST AND BEST 

BIDDER FOR THE 2022 TRAFFIC PAINT STRIPING AND OTHER 

APPURTENANCES, NOT TO EXCEED $100,000.00. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

This ordinance moved forward to Second Reading. 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 80-2022  A RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 1476-2020, WHICH 

APPROVED AND RATIFIED AN APPLICATION FOR TAX INCENTIVE IN 

COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA NO. 14 CREATED BY CITY OF 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE RESOLUTION NO. 768-94 AND SUBSEQUENT 

AMENDMENTS THERETO, FOR ISOMER GROUP INC., A CORPORATION 

ORGANIZED AND EXISTING UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 

OHIO. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 
 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Boose to dispense with the second and third 

readings for T 80-2022. 

 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0  

 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Boose to add the emergency clause to 

amend the agreement to match the construction percentage of completion, and for 

tax incentive purposes. 

 

A voice vote was taken on the emergency clause and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Boose to adopt T 80-2022 with the 

emergency clause.  

 

Mayor Corcoran expressed that T 80-2022 and T 81-2022 are tax abatements that were put in 

place for the construction of two businesses. The change is to match the 

construction completion with the agreement.  

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, with the emergency, and the motion carried.  T 80- 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 6 of 11 
 

 

2022 becomes Resolution number 1567-2022. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 81-2022  A RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 1461-2019, WHICH 

APPROVED AND RATIFIED AN APPLICATION FOR TAX INCENTIVE IN 

COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT AREA NO. 14 CREATED BY CITY OF 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE RESOLUTION NO. 768-94 AND SUBSEQUENT 

AMENDMENTS THERETO, FOR YOUNG EXPLORERS MONTESSORI, 

LLC, A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY ORGANIZED AND EXISTING 

UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF OHIO. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Abens to dispense with the second and third 

readings for T 81-2022. 

 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0  

 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Abens to add the emergency clause to 

amend the agreement to match the construction percentage of completion, and for 

tax incentive purposes. 

 

A voice vote was taken on the emergency clause and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Abens to adopt T 81-2022 with the 

emergency clause.  

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, with the emergency, and the motion carried.  T 81- 

2022 becomes Resolution number 1568-2022. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 
 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 82-2022  A RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 1548-2021, WHICH 

AUTHORIZED THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE TO 

ENTER INTO A COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT WITH LORAIN COUNTY 

FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF CASE ROAD BRIDGE #0083 AND THE 

ADJACENT RETAINING WALL, BY INCREASING THE CITY’S PORTION 

OF THIS PROJECT FROM $56,630.00 TO $100,000.00. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

This resolution moved forward to Second Reading. 

 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 7 of 11 
 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 83-2022  AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING CERTAIN STREETS/IMPROVEMENTS 

LOCATED IN THE RESERVE AT WINFIELD FARM SUBDIVISION PHASE 

2, AND DEDICATING THEM FOR PUBLIC PURPOSES. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 

 

This ordinance moved forward to Second Reading. 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 84-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE PENALTY SECTION OF N.R.C.O. 

SECTION 432.30, STOPPING FOR SCHOOL BUS. 
  (Introduced by Councilwoman Swenk) 

 

 

This ordinance was referred to the Safety Committee for discussion. 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 85-2022  A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTION OF THEN AND NOW 

CERTIFICATES BY THE FISCAL OFFICER AND THE PAYMENT OF 

AMOUNTS DUE FOR VARIOUS PURCHASE ORDERS. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 
 

 Moved by DeVries and seconded by Boose to dispense with the second and third 

readings for T 85-2022. 
 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0  
 

 Moved by DeVries and seconded by Boose to add the emergency clause to address the 

time-sensitive invoices for the various purchase orders. 

 

A voice vote was taken on the emergency clause and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 Moved by DeVries and seconded by Boose to adopt T 85-2022 with the emergency 

clause.   

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, with the emergency, and the motion carried.  T 85- 

2022 becomes Resolution number 1569-2022. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 

 

 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 8 of 11 
 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 86-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NUMBER 5889-2021 OF THE 

CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE, OHIO, PROVIDING APPROPRIATIONS 

FOR THE PERIOD COMMENCING JANUARY 1, 2022 AND ENDING 

DECEMBER 31, 2022. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran) 
 

 Moved by DeVries and seconded by Boose to dispense with the second and third 

readings for T 86-2022. 
 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0  
 

 Moved by DeVries and seconded by Boose to add the emergency clause to provide the 

Auditor’s office with the necessary financial resources 

 

A voice vote was taken on the emergency clause and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 Moved by DeVries and seconded by Boose to adopt T 86-2022 with the emergency 

clause.   
 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, with the emergency, and the motion carried.  T 86- 

2022 becomes Ordinance number 5950-2022. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 
 

SECOND READINGS:  
 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 
 

T 57-2022  AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 660.12 FENCES OF THE NORTH 

RIDGEVILLE GENERAL OFFENSES CODE. 
   (Introduced by Councilman DeVries, Referred to Planning Commission Committee on 4/4/2022; Referred to 

Building & Lands Committee on 4/4/2022: Planning Commission met on 4/12/2022: Building & Lands 

Committee met on 4/25/2022: Council approved the Commission report on 4/18/2022; Council accepted the 

Committee report on 5/2/2022) 
 

This ordinance moved forward to Third Reading. 
 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 58-2022  AN ORDINANCE AMENDING VARIOUS SECTIONS OF CHAPTER 1294 

SUPPLEMENTARY REGULATIONS OF THE NORTH RIDGEVILLE 

ZONING CODE IN ORDER TO UPDATE THE CITY’S FENCE 

REGULATIONS. 
 (Introduced by Councilman DeVries, Referred to Planning Commission Committee on 4/4/2022; Referred to 

Building & Lands Committee on 4/4/2022: Planning Commission met on 4/12/2022: Building & Lands 

Committee met on 4/25/2022: Council approved the Commission report on 4/18/2022; Council accepted the 

Committee report on 5/2/2022) 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 9 of 11 
 

 

Mr. DeVries recognized Shane Taylor for bringing the fence issue to his attention and thanked 

the administration for working on the fence issue.  

 

This ordinance moved forward to Third Reading. 
 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 64-2022  AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING NORTH RIDGEVILLE CODIFIED 

ORDINANCE 1046, WATER. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 4/04/2022; Referred to Utilities Committee on 4/4/2022; 

Utilities Committee Meeting on 4/18/2022; Council accepted the Committee report on 5/2/2022) 

 

This ordinance moved forward to Third Reading. 

 

THIRD READINGS:  

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 53-2022  AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THEN AND NOW 

CERTIFICATES BY THE CITY FISCAL OFFICER AND THE PAYMENT OF 

AMOUNTS DUE FOR VARIOUS PURCHASE ORDERS. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 3/21/2022, Referred to Finance Committee on 4/4/2022; 

Finance Committee recommended changes on 4/11/2022; Council accepted Finance Committee report on 

4/18/2022; Second Reading on 5/2/2022) 
 

 Moved by Mayor Corcoran and seconded by Boose to add the emergency clause to 

provide the Auditor’s office with the necessary financial resources. 

 

A voice vote was taken on the emergency clause and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 Moved by Swenk and seconded by Boose to adopt T 53-2022 with the emergency clause.  

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, with the emergency, and the motion carried.  T 53- 

2022 becomes Ordinance number 5951-2022. 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 65-2022  AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING N.R.C.O. CHAPTER 264, 

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION. 
  (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 4/18/2022; Second Reading on 5/2/2022) 
 

 Moved by Awig and seconded by Swenk to adopt T 65-2022. 

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, and the motion carried. T 65-2022 becomes 

Ordinance number 5952-2022. 

 



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 10 of 11 
 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 67-2022  PID NO. 102703 

  PROJECT NAME: LOR SR 0083 10.79 

 

  AN ORDINANCE COOPERATING WITH THE DIRECTOR OF THE OHIO 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION TO REPLACE THE BRIDGE DECK 

AND PARAPETS ON LOR SR 0083 10.79 WHICH CROSSES OVER SR 0010 

WITH THE CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE. 
 (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 4/18/2022; Second Reading on 5/2/2022) 

 

 Moved by Boose and seconded by Abens to add the emergency clause to submit a 

decision by June 1, 2022. 

 

A voice vote was taken on the emergency clause and the motion carried. 

 Yes – 7 No – 0 

 

 Moved by Boose and seconded by Abens to adopt T 67-2022 with the emergency clause.  

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, with the emergency, and the motion carried.  T 67- 

2022 becomes Ordinance number 5953-2022. 

 

Clerk of Council Nicholas Ciofani: 

 

T 69-2022  AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AN 

AGREEMENT TO AMEND A MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE 

AGREEMENT WITH PMJ PARK HOLDINGS, LLC. 
 (Introduced by Mayor Corcoran; First Reading on 4/18/2022; Second Reading on 5/2/2022) 

 

 Moved by Abens and seconded by Swenk to adopt T 69-2022. 

 

A roll call vote was taken on the adoption, and the motion carried.  T 69-2022 becomes 

Ordinance number 5954-2022. 

 

MEETING ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
 

President Jacobs noted the following: 

 A Public Hearing would be on Monday, June 6, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. in City Council 

Chambers. 

 The next Regular Council meeting would be on Monday, June 6, 2022, at 7:00 p.m. in 

City Council Chambers. 

Engineer Rodriguez remarked that there is a comment period for the Chestnut Ridge and State 

Route 83 roundabout for the community tic comment on the project on the City’s website and 

paper forms are available at City Hall and the Public Library.  



 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL     

REGULAR MEETING May 16, 2022    Page 11 of 11 
 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

President Jacobs adjourned the meeting at 7:34 p.m. 

 

Approval of minutes on June 6, 2022: 

 

{{_es_:signer1:signature}}          {{_es_:signer2:signature}}  
 

  Jason R. Jacobs                                                       Nicholas Ciofani 

 PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL                       CLERK OF COUNCIL  

 

 

 

 



To Order: 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
SAFETY COMMITTEE 

MINUTES OF MEETINGS 
January 31, 2022 

Chairwoman Holly Swenk called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Led by Chairwoman Swenk. 

Attendance: 

In attendance were Committee members Bruce Abens, Martin DeVries, and Chairwoman Holly 
Swenk. 

Also in attendance were Mayor Corcoran, Council President Jason Jacobs, Councilman Dennis 
Boose, Fonner Councilman Jim Maleski, Safety Service Director Jeff Armbruster, Police Chief 
Freeman, and Assistant Clerk of Council Fijabi Gallam. 

Minutes: 

Chairwoman Swenk asked if there were any corrections to the minutes from October 19, 2021. 
No discussion was offered. The meeting minutes stand approved as submitted. 

Discussion regarding proposed legislation: 

T 136-2021 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF N.R.C.O. 
CHAPTER 476, SNOWMOBILES, OFF-HIGHWAY MOTORCYCLES AND 
ALL-PURPOSE VEHICLES. 

Former Councilman Maleski, at 6088 W. Breezeway Drive, gave an overview of T 136-2021 
legislation. Mr. Maleski provided a statement about T 136-2021. He expressed that the 
discussion for this legislation started in the year 2020 with the police chief and the law 
department. He added that this legislation intends to help the police officers add a new tool to 
their toolbox. Mr. Maleski explained that he was told out of 1500 calls, several of the calls have 
been related to sound issues. He remarked that at the last Safety Committee meeting the question 
was asked if the training was needed. He heard there are many legal issues. The legislation was 
written with suggestions from the law director and the police chief. All discussions occurred over 
at least four separate meetings along with two separate committee meetings with the first reading 
of the City Council. He provided the reading process for T 136-2021. Mr. Maleski remarked that 
the legislation was pulled before the second reading and sent to the committee to die. He added 
that he sent an email to the council seeking out answers. His correspondence to City Council was 
after the deadline to be read, but he knew that for two years emails and legislations were put in 



01-31-2022 - Safety Committee minutes -T 135-2021 and T 136-2021 2 

front of the City Council the same day to read into the record. Mr. Maleski wanted to know why 
his correspondence did not get a vote to be added to the agenda. He suggested that Article 2 
Section 2.5 of the City Charter should be adjusted and updated to have a true separation of 
powers between the legislative and executive branches. Mr. Maleski explained that this 
legislation is complaint-driven, and only serves to give guidance. 

Chair Swenk wanted to know ifthere were any questions and comments from the committee. 

Councilman DeVries wanted to know if Mr. Maleski asked for any input from other 
organizations or any other officials about this type of legislation. 

Mr. Maleski remarked that he was in communication with the American Motorcycle Association 
to get guidance on how to measure sound and handle disputes with motorcycles. He also 
communicated with a person in Placer County, California. 

Mr. De Vries wanted to know if this legislation is similar to what the neighboring communities 
might have. 

Mr. Maleski explained when he looks at legislation in this regard it might be good to be the one 
that sets a precedent for this type of legislation. 

Councilman DeVries wanted to know how expensive is the mechanism or the device that is 
needed to measure the sound. 

Mr. Maleski remarked that the device to measure sound is available at Wal-Mart for less than 
$50. 

Councilman Abens wanted to know if the City already has a sound meter. 

Mr. Maleski remarked yes the City had one at one point in time. 

Chair Swenk asked if the administration have any questions or comments. 

Police Chief Freeman explained that the noise of multiple sounds at once is a concern. There are 
different noise complaints the police department receives - car stereos, noises from fixing cars, 
and all-terrain vehicles (ATVs). His concern is that the City is trying to legislate a complaint
driven from five to six properties. Chief Freeman believed the issue is caused by the parcel size -
the smaller the property the easier it is to annoy neighbors when riding an ATV. He noted that 
he originally suggested putting a parcel restriction on the number of ATVs that could ride on a 
five-acre parcel or more. The Chief added that the restriction could be similar to the hunting 
ordinance - to allow two property owners to combine their property to make five acres or more. 
The City of North Ridgeville has changed. 

Mr. Armbruster explained that he has seen the device that Mr. Maleski is referring to. He 
understood that the radar guns have to be certified; however, he did not know if the device 



01-31-2022 - Safety Committee minutes-T 135-2021 and T 136-2021 3 

results would be sufficient for a court proceeding. He noted that there may be training 
requirements or certification requirements. Mr. Armbruster expressed that residents should take 
into consideration of their neighbors and be nice. 

Police Chief Freeman remarked that the issue with the noise is when a child is riding the A TV or 
recreational vehicle 200 feet away from the residential dwelling. The land they are using is not 
adequate to run an A TV for eight hours. Enforcing the guidelines on a personal property could 
be problematic. The complaints are area specific. He suggested controlling the number of ATVs 
on a piece of property at the same time and shortening the hours for the activity. He believed that 
the legislation is not a bad idea; however, it is limited. The problem is when people are turning 
their homestead into a track. 

Mr. Armbruster noted that the bow hunting legislation had many people who were interested in 
how the City would enforce the activity. The process became a great program that is managed by 
the Police Department. Residents are following the rules that were illustrated in the hunting 
legislation. He explained that limiting the number of acres could help with the issues. 

Chair Swenk wanted to know if the proposal is to change the legislation to five acres. 

Police Chief Freeman reiterated that the issue is complaint-driven. He explained that it would be 
difficult to meter ten machines at the same time. 

Chair Swenk wanted to know if there were any comments and questions from the members of 
the City Council or the audience. 

Councilman Boose thanked former Councilman Maleski for the hard work he has done on the 
legislation. He expressed that he had a noise issue in his Ward that he had to address, but did not 
know if the property was five acres or more. He believed they are progressing in the right place 
for this type of noise issue. He expressed that he does not know how to help the members in his 
Wards regarding this issue because there is nothing regulating it. Sometimes neighbors do not 
get along. He understands the idea behind the proposed legislation. Mr.Boose Provided issues 
that other residents encounter. 

Police Chief Freeman expressed that as a government the City does not want to take residents' 
rights from using their property. Some people want to enjoy ATVs and some want to enjoy their 
backyard. He added that this issue has to be inclusive or exclusive to the hunting ordinance. The 
size of the property would resolve this issue. The Chief remarked that there needs to be a 
discussion on larger lot specifications, number of riders, and duration of times. 

Mr. Armbruster added that the City does not want 100 bikes on five acres. He explained there are 
public race tracks for ATVs and motorcycles that resident could take their machines to instead of 
doing it on their property. 

Councilman Boose expressed that going to the larger parcel size is a good recommendation. He 
wanted to know how would the City restrict the number of riders on a piece of land. Mr. Boose 



01-31-2022 - Safety Committee minutes -T 135-2021 and T 136-2021 4 

added that he is interested in being in the discussion to determine how to regulate the number of 
riders. 

Council President Jacobs wanted clarification on how close the sound measure device has to be 
to the vehicles. 

Police Chief Freeman remarked that it depends on the meter. He explained the process. When a 
police officer visits the prqperty and could hear the noise emitting outside the property boundary 
line it is a violation of the law. The resident usually lowers the noise level or the issue resolves 
itself. 

Mr. Maleski remarked that for particular bikes the meter is held 20 inches away at 50 rpm. 

Police Chief Freeman explained that it depends on the standard to determine the violation. He 
explained that it is difficult to detennine what is noise to a person. 

Police Chief Freeman and Mr. Maleski's discussion ensued on the variables for detennining 
noise complaints and what might could happen in court. 

Council President Jacobs wanted to know if the possible path would be to mirror the hunting 
ordinance. 

Mr. Armbruster and Police Chief Freeman added if residents have at least 2.5 they could also 
combine their property to achieve the 5 acres or more requirement. This could be tracked by 
permits like the hunting ordinance. 

Chair Swenk wanted to know where would the permits come from. 

Police Chief Freeman noted that the permits are required for hunting and the police department 
could do it for ATVs. Extra work is needed when notices have to be sent out to adjoining 
properties; however, Chief Freeman does not think notices are needed for ATVs. This procedure 
would apply to the owners and lessee of the property. 

Councilman Boose suggested putting in the legislation that only the vehicles owned by the 
property owner or someone who lives on the property are allowed to ride on the property. 

Police Chief Freeman noted that A TVs are supposed to be registered. 

Mr. Maleski remarked that he was told to stay away from using the term "racetracks" in the 
legislation because of how difficult it is to use the term for legal matters. 

Police Chief Freeman believed that the legislation could serve both sides. 

Councilman Abens expressed that with the proposed legislation the minimum acres amount is 3 
acres because very few proprieties in North Ridgeville are under the 5 acres and the residents 



01-31-2022 - Safety Committee minutes-T 135-2021 and T 136-2021 5 

would think it's too restrictive. The proposed legislation also has the times when the vehicles 
could be operated (9 a.m. to dusk). He added that the 200 feet regulation was addressed in the 
legislation too. Mr. Abens expressed that he does not like this type of ordinance, but there are 
people in North Ridgeville who would not cooperate with their neighbors. He wanted to know 
what else is needed to add to the new provisions that were already in T 136-2021 to enforce the 
issue. 

Police Chief Freeman explained that enforceability is not the person. The size of the property is 
the problem and the 200 feet away from the dwelling is not enough. 200 feet is still close to a 
house. 

Mr. Maleski wanted to know if laws are designed for residents that do not want to be considerate 
of their neighbors. 

Police Chief Freeman agreed something should be in place and he does not think the current 
proposed legislation is a real resolution to the problems that exist in the City. He reiterated that 
the acreage required should be increased, an increase is needed for the 200 feet from a residential 
dwelling, and add in the number of riders allowed. 

Discussions ensued regarding the permit process. There would be no charge for the permits. 

Mr. Maleski added that the only requirements for the sound meter are that the batteries are 
current, and the device is recalibrated every time it is used. 

Police Chief Freeman believed that there is a point for a sound meter, but it is not addressing the 
A TV noise issue. 

Councilman Abens expressed that he would like to give the police officers something they could 
enforce if the resident does not stop. 

Mr. Armbruster wanted to know if anyone received any complaints from the properties that led 
to the discussion of this legislation. 

Everyone agreed that the issue might still exist in the City. 

Discussions ensued on the different sounds that could be considered a noise nuisance. 

Mr. Maleski noted that he likes the idea of a permit. 

Councilman Boose remarked that all is a good suggestion, but it still does not address the 
number of riders at once on a single property. 

Discussions ensued on how many recreational vehicles could be operating at once on a 
residential property. 



01-31-2022 - Safety Committee minutes - T 13 5-202 l and T 136-202 l 6 

Councilman Boose wanted to know what measurement is used when there is a party and a noise 
complaint is made for that party. 

Police Chief Freeman reiterated that current law states that a police officer could stand at the 
residential boundary line to see if they could hear the noise. If they could hear the noise the 
resident would be in violation. 

Discussions ensued on the different sounds that could be considered a noise nuisance. 

Councilman Boose wanted to know when Mr. Maleski talked to the organizations during his 
research would they be able to direct the City to other communities that regulate this type of 
issue. 

Mr. Maleski responded with a yes. Placer County, California did something similar for 
motorcycles with decimal readings and time. Mr. Maleski did not look for a similar regulation in 
Ohio. 

Councilman Boose expressed that he doesn't see anything wrong with creating the legislation, 
but it would be helpful to see what other communities are doing. 

Police Chief Freeman remarked that he would contact local communities (Strongsville and 
Avon) to get information on what they currently do regarding noise issues with ATVs. He 
reiterated that he likes where the legislation is going and it does need more. 

Councilman Abens wanted to know if there is any problem moving forward with T 135-2021 to 
define noise and sound. 

Mr. Annbruster explained it is best to wait for both legislation, so it doesn't conflict with the 
Police Chiefs enforcement. 

Councilman Abens was told that noise is not the legal tenn and sound is. The change would help 
with other areas besides ATVs. 

Police Chief Freeman recommended the committee hold off on moving T 135-2021 to the City 
Council and wait until the ATVs issue is resolved. 

Mr. Maleski wanted to know what would happen to the request for T 135-2021 and T 136-2021 
since the legislation would die in committee. He added that Councilman Clifford Winkel worked 
on the legislation with him for the first few months. 

Mr . Armbruster wanted to make sure the administration could enforce it. He added that Chief 
Freeman would work on getting some examples and get them back to the committee for review. 

The committee had a consensus the legislation is reintroduced with the new information that was 
gathered. There was no action. 



01-31-2022 - Safety Committee minutes - T 135-2021 and T 136-2021 7

Councilman DeVries believed they are on the right track and he liked what everyone has to say.
He thanked Mr. Maleski for being at the meeting. He expressed that the noise from ATVs has
always been an issue and something needs to be done to be able to enforce this situation.

The meeting was adjourned at 7: 12 p.m.

These minutes were approved on 3 \ 6� day of _M
._..._ 

... O....
.._
'
...,�----

...,.·-----' 2022.

-� d��FijabiGall� 
Assistant Clerk of Council



NORTH RIDGEVILLE CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION 
MINUTES OF THE 

REGULAR MEETING – MONDAY, MAY 23, 2022 

CALL TO ORDER: 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 PM. 

ROLL CALL: 

Present were Chairman Donald Schiffbauer and Secretary Bill Holland. Also present were 
Assistant Law Director Toni Morgan, Police Chief Mike Freeman and Assistant Clerk of Council 
Fijabi Gallam. 

Absent was Co-Chairman Sam Spann. 

MINUTES: 

Chairman Schiffbauer asked if the members had any questions or comments regarding the 
regular meeting minutes of March 28, 2022. 

It was moved by Schiffbauer and seconded by Holland to approve the regular meeting 
minutes of Monday, March 28, 2022 as presented. 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

Yes – 2 No – 0 

REPORTS: 

None 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  

None 

NEW BUSINESS: 

(T 65-2022) Ordinance No. 5952-2022 - An ordinance repealing and replacing N.R.C.O. Chapter 
264, Civil Service Commission 

Chairman Schiffbauer advised that the ordinance was created in order to be able to lateral 
transfer hiring of police officers from other municipalities into to North Ridgeville Police 
Department. He discussed that one section stated that no extra credit would be afforded to lateral 
hires, however; applicants may utilize both the lateral hire process and the Civil Service 
Commission entrance examination process simultaneously. He asked that if they utilize the Civil 
Service entrance examination process, would extra credit be counted. 
 



NORTH RIDGEVILLE CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION PAGE 2 
REGULAR MEETING – MONDAY, MAY 23, 2022 
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan stated that they would. 
  
Chairman Schiffbauer asked that regarding Section 2(d), where it stated that it shall set a 
reasonable fee for the application process, if the fees would be the same for applications coming 
in via the Civil Service entrance exam and the lateral transfers. 
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan answered that they would. She explained that looking at the 
ordinance, at the third "whereas", it stated that the City of North Ridgeville, through its' Charter, 
has reserved to itself all home rule powers available to a municipality, and pursuant to the 
authority wishes to implement the use of lateral hires, also known as lateral transfers, into the 
City's Civil Service structure. She advised that one of the reasons that particular "whereas" was 
so important was because anytime Civil Service wanted to differ from what's in the ORC an 
ordinance would be needed. She indicated that it would be a foundation in case there were ever 
any challenges. She explained that they were trying to follow the Charter, the Civil Service rules 
and the ORC as closely as they could to make it fit into the program they already have. She 
added that in Section 264.01 some of that language was directly from the City's Charter stating 
that the Civil Service Commission shall operate under the North Ridgeville City Charter and 
according to the general laws of the State of Ohio and went on to say that it shall adopt such 
other rules, regulations and by-laws as deemed necessary to conduct its business and that 
language was from the Charter. She mentioned that the next section, Membership, 264.02, that it 
was language from the Charter as well. She stated that previously Chapter 264 prior to this 
ordinance had one thing in it about the secretary, so in addition to adding lateral hires they added 
other items. She explained that the Section on Meetings was wording that already existed as part 
of the by-laws and Section 264.04 was the only thing previously in 264. She stated that the real 
meat and potatoes started in 264.05. She discussed that in 264.05(1)(a) & (1)(c) they had already 
put together an ordinance to amend it. She explained that the reason was that in Section (1)(a) it 
talked about a Class A Officer but with the negotiations of the new contract, what was an "A" is 
now a "B". She discussed that the only other change that was brought to their attention by the 
Chief was (1)(c) under that same section where it said, applicants must be OPOTA "trained" that 
would be amended to the word "certified" and that it would run parallel to what was currently 
required. She commented that in looking at Section 2(a) when utilizing lateral hiring, the Civil 
Service Commission, it was suggested during meetings with the police that to integrate the two, 
where they usually would certify 10 names after the testing procedure, would change to certify 
up to 7 names to the certified eligibility list and an additional 3 names may be reviewed from the 
certified lateral hire list. She explained that the next section under that stated that the list would 
be active for a year unless they asked for their name to be removed. 
 
 



NORTH RIDGEVILLE CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION PAGE 3 
REGULAR MEETING – MONDAY, MAY 23, 2022 
 
Chairman Schiffbauer asked how the three additional lateral transfer names integrated into the 
list and where would they rank in the 10? 
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan stated that there would be two lists. One list would have 7 names 
from the Civil Service exam list and the second list would have 3 names from the lateral 
transfers list. She advised that the Chief would have the discretion on which list to choose from. 
 
Member Holland asked if it would be possible to just select from the lateral list itself and not 
present the other list. 
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan advised that they would be presented with both lists but it would 
be possible to choose just from the lateral list. 
 
Member Holland asked if they were to select four names and three were from the lateral list 
(inaudible) 
 
Police Chief Freeman explained that the way it currently worked was that if there were only 
three laterals and one was selected and was offered a job, they could pull another lateral name. 
 
Chairman Schiffbauer commented that they could replenish the list. 
 
Police Chief Freeman stated that that was correct. He advised that if they took a name from the 
Civil Service exam list, Civil Service would give them a new name in those seven. He explained 
that Member Holland was correct that they could have five lateral transfers and when a name 
was pulled off, that name would be replaced once they offered him a job and he was hired on.  
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan stated that more and more cities were going towards lateral 
transfers. She explained that so far she hadn't seen any challenges. 
 
Member Holland (inaudible) 
 
Chairman Schiffbauer advised that the City of Lorain and the Lorain County Sheriff's 
Department were trading off left and right and he hadn't heard any issues regarding challenges 
but that it depended on where the officers wanted to go.  
 
Police Chief Freeman explained that the officer would get a higher rate of pay based on their 
years of experience but they would start at the bottom of the pole.  He mentioned that five years 
of experience wouldn't transfer as seniority to another department and wouldn't affect picking  



NORTH RIDGEVILLE CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION PAGE 4 
REGULAR MEETING – MONDAY, MAY 23, 2022 
 
shifts in terms of preference of night shift or day shift so they kept the union in mind in regards 
to that. 
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan mentioned that the other areas that she wanted to go over were 
(d) and (e) that the Civil Service Commission shall fully develop the lateral hire program and 
advertise for positions, develop, accept and maintain applications, forms, and all related 
paperwork and that it shall set a reasonable fee for the application process. She explained that the 
application would be adapted as well and would be provided for the Commission to review. She 
further explained that any kind of paperwork regarding it would have to mirror Civil Service 
Rules and Regulations. She discussed that the Commission would communicate with applicants, 
maintain the integrity of the process, review all the applications for completeness but that the 
Deputy Clerk of Council would be doing most of that. She stated that they would also develop a 
lateral hire list for the appointing authority and adjust the existing Civil Service Commission 
Rules and Regulations to take into account the use of the lateral hire program. She explained that 
at some point they would need to go through the by-laws. She stated that her intention was to 
keep them exactly as they were and then add a paragraph or a sentence as needed to 
accommodate the changes in reference to lateral hires. She mentioned that if they were using the 
lateral hires more, if it ever were to go away or if they didn't have any for that particular cycle 
then the rules and regulations would stand. 
 
Chairman Schiffbauer stated that everything besides the lateral transfer appeared to be things 
they were already doing and that they did a great job capturing everything. He mentioned that 
people were making choices based on lifestyle, family, culture and happy to move forward with 
it. 
 
Police Chief Freeman explained that they were in a cycle where they had a new department and 
an old department and that in about six years what would happen would be that one-third of the 
work force would be leaving and what he wanted to do with lateral transfers was to try to 
maintain the maturity of his work force and to have a blend of ages among his staff. 

Chairman Schiffbauer stated that the next regular meeting was scheduled for 5:00 PM, Monday, 
June 27, 2022.   

ADJOURNMENT:  

It was moved by Schiffbauer and seconded by Holland to adjourn the meeting. 

A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 
Yes – 2 No – 0 



NORTH RIDGEVILLE CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION PAGE 5 
REGULAR MEETING – MONDAY, MAY 23, 2022 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:17PM. 

    
Donald Schiffbauer   Tina Wieber 
Chairman   Deputy Clerk of Council, Recording Secretary 

 Monday, June 27, 2022  
Date Approved 



NORTH RIDGEVILLE BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS 
MINUTES OF 

REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

CALL TO ORDER: 

Vice-Chairwoman Masterson called the meeting to order with the Pledge of 
Allegiance at 7:00 PM. 

ROLL CALL:  

Present were members Neil Thibodeaux, Vice-Chairwoman Linda Masterson, 
Chairman Kimble and Council Liaison Clifford Winkle. 

Absent were members James Cain and Steve Ali. 

Also present were Chief Building Official Guy Fursdon, Assistant Law Director 
Toni Morgan and Deputy Clerk of Council Tina Wieber. 

MINUTES:  

Chairman Kimble asked if there were any corrections to the minutes of the regular 
meeting on Thursday, April 28, 2022. Hearing none, the minutes stand as 
presented. 

PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT(S):  

None 

OTHER REPORTS OR CORRESPONDENCE:  

None 

 PUBLIC HEARINGS:
 
PPZ2022-0114:  Joseph Iacona, 6401 Fawn Lane, PPN 07-00-028-101-127 
Applicant: Same 
The applicant proposes building a 6-foot high fence on a corner lot. Property is 
zoned PCD R-1 District. Requests: 

1. A 2.5 foot variance for height of a fence located in the front yard. 
Applicant shows 6 feet, code allows 3.5 feet, Section 1294.01(h)(1)(A). 

2. A variance for a 100% solid fence. Applicant shows solid fence, code requires 
fence to be at least 50% open when located between the building and street line,  
Section 1294.01(h)(3). 

 



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 2 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

Application was read along with comments from Chief Building Official Fursdon. 
 
Chairwoman Kimble asked if there was a representative present.  
 
Joseph Iacona, 6401 Fawn Lane, North Ridgeville, OH 44039, was sworn in. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked Mr. Kessler to explain the application. 
 
Mr. Iacona explained that his back yard was on a corner lot and he wanted to have 
a 6-foot high fence to have privacy in the back yard. He stated that the reason they 
were requesting the variance was because they couldn’t go over the building line 
that was shown on the plat. He discussed that the building line cut off the majority 
of the back yard and he felt as if they wouldn't be getting the most out of having a 
fence because it was such a small area.  He mentioned that they also have a dog at 
home that they wanted to be able to let out and run in the back yard. He added that 
the request was so that they could have privacy and for the dog so they wouldn't 
have to watch him at all times while he would be out there. 
 
Chairman Kimble remarked that the purpose of the ordinance that the City had in 
place was due to it being a corner lot, they technically had two front yards even 
though it was the side of the house and it came down to the safety issue for 
visibility obstruction or lack of visibility. He stated that the way it was drawn 
coming off the rear corner of the garage and in consideration of where the 
driveway was located, he didn't foresee any visibility issues with the design. 
 
Mr. Iacona explained that per his HOA they weren't allowed to go towards the 
back end of the house and that was why they put it in the back corner of the garage. 
He stated that he was also planning on keeping it within the twelve foot utility 
easement and it wouldn't be crossing over that line either. 
 

Moved by Thibodeaux and seconded by Masterson to approve the 2.5 foot 
variance for height of a fence and 100% closed located in the front yard. 

 A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried. 

Yes – 3 No – 0   

PPZ2022-0115:  Helen & Armando Serrano, 35347 Elder Street, PPN  



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 3 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

07-00-020-105-001, 07-00-020-105-002, 07-00-020-105-003, 07-00-020-105-004 
Applicant: Same 
The applicant proposes building a 4-foot high fence on a corner lot. Property is 
zoned RS-2 District. Requests: 

1. A 0.5 foot variance for height of a fence located in the front yard. Applicant  
shows 4 feet, code allows 3.5 feet, Section 1294.01(h)(1)(A).  

 
Application was read along with comments from Chief Building Official Fursdon. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked if there was a representative present.  
 
Helen Armando, 35347 Elder Street, North Ridgeville, OH 44039, was sworn in. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked Ms. Armando to explain the application. 
 
Ms. Armando explained that she had two young children and they lived on a corner 
lot. She stated that for their safety they wanted to build a fence for their yard. She 
discussed that the majority of their property was on the western side of the 
property, the grass area.  She remarked that they did have a concrete patio on the 
south end but most of their usable grass space was on the west side. She stated that 
for the safety of her children they decided to fence it in and they decided to go with 
a 4-foot fence because that material was easier to obtain and it gave them the most 
privacy while still allowing for 75% open visibility. She described that it was a 
little extra height with a combination of six-foot on the non-street sides. 
 
Chairman Kimble remarked that he saw on the layout it showed 6 feet in one part. 
 
Ms. Armando indicated that it was just the four-foot on the north and the west side 
and part of the south where it was their neighbor's house line. She stated that the 
house line from the south side would transition from 6-foot to 4-foot. 
 
Chairman Kimble stated that there was current legislation being put into place to 
change the ordinance from 3.5 foot to 4-foot, due to the fact that most material 
bought is four foot. He explained that she probably had the distinction to be the last 
person to ask for this variance. He further explained that if she were to ask for the 
fence 60 days from the meeting, she wouldn't have had to go in front of the Board. 
 



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 4 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

Councilman Winkel stated that T58-2022, the legislation that was referenced, 
would have a third reading in about a week and then would be in play within 30 to 
45 days after that. 
 

Moved by Masterson and seconded by Thibodeaux to approve the 0.5 foot 
variance for height of a fence. 

 A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried. 

Yes – 3 No – 0   

Chairman Kimble moved to take a 5 minute recess to give the next applicant 
time to attend. 

 A voice vote was taken and the motion carried. 

Yes – 3 No – 0   

PPZ2022-0117:  Ioana Budurean, 36728 Capri Lane, PPN 07-00-031-000-283 
Applicant: Ryan Delia, Moscarino Landscape + Design, 25329 Sprague Road,  
Columbia Station, OH 44028. 
The applicant is proposing to install a 5-foot high vinyl semi-private fence in the rear 
yard of their corner lot. Property is zoned R-1 District. Requests: 

1. A 1.5 foot variance for height of a fence located in the front yard. Applicant  
    shows 5 feet, code allows 3.5 feet, Section 1294.01(h)(1)(A). 
2. A variance for a 75% closed 25% open fence. Code requires fence to be at least  

         50% open when located between the building and street line, Section  
         1294.01(h)(3). 
 
Application was read along with comments from Chief Building Official Fursdon. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked if there was a representative present.  
 
Ryan Delia, 25329 Sprague Rd, Columbia Station, OH 44028, was sworn in. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked Mr. Delia to explain the application. 
 
Mr. Delia explained that the homeowner had a corner lot and was looking to create 
a sense of enclosure and privacy. He stated that they realized that the traditional 6-



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 5 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

foot fence was out of the question but were hoping to go with something as close 
to that as possible while still getting as close to the guidelines as possible. He 
discussed that their backyard was pretty open and exposed along the road. He 
pointed to the drawing and discussed the location of the house, the driveway and 
where the backyard living space was and remarked that it felt very exposed. He 
stated that the homeowners came to him with the hope that he would come up with 
some solutions. He explained that his idea was that instead of a solid fence all the 
way around, what if they did a blend of privacy trees and privacy fencing but semi-
private. He further explained that the 5-foot tall fence was, according to what the 
Chairman had just mentioned, 75% closed and 25% open to at least give a little 
more sense of privacy. He discussed that the way it was designed the fence wasn't 
going all the way around but just in panels and sections. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked what he meant when he said that it was in panels and 
sections. 
 
Mr. Delia went to the drawing and pointed out where each section was located and 
where they would be screening with trees. He stated that he wasn't quite clear on 
the rule but that he thought it was between building and street and asked if that was 
correct. 
 
Chairman Kimble stated from the right-of-way. He then showed him where the 
building line was and that the variance request was to the front yard and since it 
was a corner lot it had two yards. He showed him where he was protruding into the 
front yard with certain portions even though it was broken up.  He explained that 
that's when the ordinance kicked in or had to be so high or a percent over. 
 
Mr. Delia commented that that was the challenge, if it was a front yard or a side 
yard. 
 
Chairman Kimble explained that it was a front yard. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Masterson asked if the homeowner built the house because it 
was a brand new subdivision. 
 
Mr. Delia said they did. 
 



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 6 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

Vice-Chairwoman Masterson remarked that they bought the house knowing it was 
on a corner lot. 
 
Mr. Delia stated that was correct. 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Masterson commented that they would have known that it was 
exposed. 
 
Mr. Delia stated that they bought the house knowing it was a corner lot but that 
neither of them were actually Americans and that was the first house they had 
owned in America. He advised that the wife was Romanian and the husband was 
Canadian and had just gotten married, had their first child and this was their first 
house. He stated that in discussions that he had with them early on in the design 
meetings was letting them know that there were rules with the HOA and that they 
might have to request a variance and that seemed very new to them. They had 
asked why they couldn't have a fence all the way around and he told them that they 
could but that they wouldn't get the results that they wanted. He stated that he told 
them the best route would be to find a middle ground that was as close to the rules 
as possible but also give them a little more sense of enclosure and privacy. He 
mentioned that he believed they bought the lot thinking that they had more lawn 
but he didn't think they quite grasped the whole privacy thing. 
 
Chairman Kimble discussed that it was confusing for customers when they 
purchase their home, especially a new development because they think that they 
have all that extra space not realizing the ordinances that are in place by the City 
and probably the HOA. He mentioned that the Board wasn't concerned about 
HOA's and didn't take them into consideration. He explained that he had been by 
the property and the design was outstanding. He stated that he had a concern about 
the 75% closed fence with only 25% open. He mentioned that the whole point of 
the ordinance came down to a safety issue because of visibility or any sort of 
visible barrier that could block a kid riding a bike or a pedestrian going down a 
sidewalk and he had a concern about where it was located in conjunction to where 
the traffic was at, not so much from a traffic perspective on the road. He stated that 
he drove down and went through both ways and there were stop signs at both 
intersections and didn't see any traffic problems. He commented that from the 
TOPO that it was 34.29 feet from the house to the sidewalk and he was roughly 
estimating they were 22 to 24 feet from the house out. He asked if they were taking 



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 7 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

the fence from the house out. 
 
Mr. Delia stated that sounded correct. 
 
Chairman Kimble remarked that if they only had 34 feet to work with and a car 
was backing out of the driveway and the fence was out 24 feet, with the extra 
height and more closed he was afraid that no one would be able to see a kid riding 
a bike down a sidewalk to the last ten feet. He asked if there was any way possible 
to push the fence back to the corner of the house. He explained that they weren't 
talking a huge amount of distance from the rear corner. 
 
Mr. Delia advised that he thought they would be agreeable to that. 
 
Chairman Kimble commented that he thought it would open up a lot of visibility. 
He explained that when the Board made their decisions they were there for life. He 
further explained that during his time on the Board that he had taken great pride in 
not doing anything that would potentially be a hazard. He stated that it wouldn't be 
moving it back more than 15 to 18 feet. 
 
Mr. Delia remarked that he wanted to make sure they were on the same page and 
referred to the drawing and asked if he was correct on the new location.    
 
Chairman Kimble advised that he was correct. He stated that he didn't believe it 
would make a difference for what the homeowners were looking for in their 
backyard and it would still accomplish what they wanted and accomplish the fact 
that there wouldn't be any safety obstructions. 
 
Mr. Delia commented that he thought they would be amenable to that. 
 
Chairman Kimble stated that they couldn’t eliminate every scenario but they could 
give the best possible scenario to have. He explained that with a 75% closed fence, 
they had a right angle of fence section and even with the 25% open slots, when 
backing a car out there would be no way someone would be able to see through 
one slot to the next at an angle. He mentioned that when backing up at some points 
it would look 100% closed and there wouldn't be any visibility with a car backing 
out. 
 



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 8 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

Mr. Delia remarked that it made sense to him. He stated that if that was the 
proposed solution, that he, as the applicant speaking for the homeowners, would be 
very comfortable with that. 
 
Chairman Kimble mentioned that he would just have to request that it be modified 
and they would move on from there if that was what he wanted to do. 
 
Mr. Delia stated that he wanted to request that it be modified. 
 
Chairman Kimble asked Assistant Law Director Morgan if that was enough from a 
legal perspective. 
 
Assistant Law Director Morgan stated that the Chairman could be more specific 
when he made the motion for approval and that would be fine. 
 
Chairman Kimble explained that he thought it would solve a lot of the issues and 
still accomplish the same goal that they were looking for. 
 
Chief Building Official Fursdon stated that he liked the Chairman's thought on it 
because there was actually 12 feet from where the fence stopped to the right-of-
way because there was a 12-foot utility easement there. He explained that if they 
were talking about a ground sign that would be an ample setback but when you're 
talking about ground signs and driveways, cars are pulling out and not backing out, 
so you're cutting down on the visibility by moving that to the back corner of the 
house and you're giving them more visibility and greater safety. 
 

Moved by Masterson and seconded by Thibodeaux to approve a 1.5 foot 
variance for height of a fence in a front yard and a variance for a 75% closed 25% 
open fence with the amendment that the fence is moved to the rear northwest 
corner of the house. 

 A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried. 

Yes – 3 No – 0   

OTHER BUSINESS:  

No other business. 



BOARD OF ZONING AND BUILDING APPEALS  PAGE 9 
REGULAR MEETING – THURSDAY, MAY 26, 2022 

ADJOURNMENT: 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:32 PM. 

 

    
Shawn Kimble   Tina Wieber 
Chairman   Recording Secretary/Deputy Clerk of 

Council 
Thursday, June 23, 2022  
Date Approved 



PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION    
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING: April 27, 2022   
 
The meeting was called to order by Chairman Douglas Hayes at 7:30p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Douglas Hayes, Jeff Grigsby, Dennis Boose, Keriann Roach, Jessica Shuleva and Parks and Recreation 
Director Kevin Fougerousse 
 
Excused Absence:  Jeff Grigsby 
 
FINALIZATION OF AGENDA:  
 
Motion by Roach, 2nd by Boose for approval of Agenda. 
 
4 – Yes, 0 – No  

 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
Approval of minutes from the regularly scheduled meeting on March 23, 2022 meeting.   
 
Amend minutes from March 23, 2022 to add Jessica Shuleva to roll call.  Amendment brought forth by 
Jessica Shuleva. 
 
Motion by Boose, 2nd by Hayes for approval of minutes with the change from the commission meeting on 
March 23, 2022. 
 
4 – Yes, 0 – No 
 

 
LOBBY:    
 
None 
 
 
REPORTS: 
 
COUNCIL LIAISONS REPORT:   
 
Councilman Dennis Boose reported that temporary ordinance 45-2022 to increase the amount for Shady 
Drive Restroom Addition from $246,500 to $255,000 was approved by Council at the April meeting.  You will 
start to see orange barrels if you haven’t already for concrete and asphalt resurfacing and or replacement.  
The sewer project on Center Ridge Road to the east, toward North Olmsted, continues and is slated to be 
completed later this year.  
 
SCHOOL BOARD LIAISONS REPORT:   
 
No report. 
 
 
 



 
FINANCIAL REPORT:  
 
Parks and Recreation Director Kevin Fougerousse discussed the revenues and expenses.  Trust Fund 
revenue in March was $33,925.06.  Trust Fund unencumbered balance through March was $223,369.01.  
The Park and Recreation Improvement Fund revenue in March was $6,922.88.  The Park and Recreation 
Improvement Fund unencumbered balance through March is $211,455.23.  Trust Fund expenses in March 
were $22,197.34 and our General Fund expenses in March were $66,046.07.       
 
DIRECTORS REPORT:  
 
Parks and Recreation Director Kevin Fougerousse reported that we received the Draft Scope from NOACA 
the week of March 21 related to our TLCI Planning Grant.  Kim Lieber, Dan Rodriquez and I met to go 
through the scope and provide input and edits.  The draft scope was sent back to NOACA and we are waiting 
to hear back on the next step in the process.  Samuel Janning a student with NRCS is working with us to 
construct a new shed in South Central Park.  The shed will replace the one that currently sits in-front of the 
pickleball/tennis courts.  Excavation work for the Town Center Trail started this week.  The fence was 
installed and the Service Department will pave it.  AT&T Building was sold.  The sale of the property was 
communicated with to Old Town Hall Theatre and they would need to have their props, costumes, etc. 
removed by Friday, May 20.  Last but not least we did have our pre-construction meeting with 11th Group and 
EMD Studio related to the bathroom addition at Shady Drive.   
 
 
RECREATION SUPERVISOR REPORT:   
 
Fishing Derby is being held on Saturday, May 7 from 7:30a.m-Noon and we currently have 89 pre-registered.  
The lake will be stocked with trout and we received a $500 Step Outside Grant through ODNR to help 
alleviate expenses.  Keep Lorain County Beautiful Day is being held on Saturday, May 21 from 
9:00a.m.-Noon.  Our Tots T-Ball Program starts on May 27 and runs through June 24, at the time of the 
report we have 92 pre-registered.    This is a positive increase of 29 kids over 2021.  HIIT Yoga has 09 
pre-registered and started on April 4.  Stroller Strong which runs on Wednesday’s has 06 pre-registered 
which started on April 6.  Senior Adult Irish Dance Exercise Class is a new program that starts on May 2 and 
we currently have 02 enrolled.  Teen & Adult Irish Dance Class starts on May 7, we currently have 01 
enrolled.  Pre-school Interactive Irish Dance starts on May 3 and we have 2 pre-registered.  Kids Irish 
Dance starts on May 7 and has 02 pre-registered. 
 
GROUNDS MAINTENANCE REPORT:   
 
Kevin Fougerousse reported on behalf of Marc Allen.  Marc attended training for the ABI Force we 
purchased.  The training took place in Indiana.  The training helped Marc understand how the laser grading 
and machine operates. 
 
OLD BUSINESS:    
 
Keriann Roach asked about the South Central Park Playground.  Kevin Fougerousse stated we did not 
receive the NatureWorks grant and we are re-applying.  We are still working with Rotary on the project. 
 
NEW BUSINESS:   
 
No new business. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:   Meeting adjourned at 7:57p.m. 



 NORTH RIDGEVILLE PLANNING COMMISSION  
MINUTES OF SPECIAL MEETING  

THURSDAY, MAY 19, 2022 
  
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Swallow called the Planning Commission meeting to order with the Pledge of 
Allegiance at 7:00 PM. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Present were members Paul Graupmann, Vice-Chairwoman Jennifer Swallow and Council 
Liaison Bruce Abens. Also present were Chief Building Official Guy Fursdon, Assistant Law 
Director Toni Morgan and Deputy Clerk of Council Tina Wieber. 
 
Absent were Steve Ali and Chairman James Smolik. 
 
MINUTES: 
 
Vice-Chairwoman Swallow asked if the members had a chance to review the minutes of the 
regular meeting on Tuesday, May 10, 2022. She asked if there were any corrections. Hearing no 
corrections, the minutes were approved. 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
 
Beckett Thermal Inc., 38000 Beckett Pkwy North, PPN 07-00-038-000-330 
Applicant: Greg Baker, Beckett Thermal Inc., 38000 Beckett Parkway North, North Ridgeville, 
OH 44039. Proposal consists of constructing a pre-assembled temporary laboratory for burner 
testing. Property is zoned I-3. 
 
Application and Administrative comments were read. 

Vice-Chairwoman Swallow asked the applicant to state his name and address for the record. 

Greg Baker, Beckett Thermal Inc., 38000 Beckett Parkway North, North Ridgeville, OH 44039.  

Mr. Baker stated that they were looking to install a temporary pre-fabricated building to be 
placed at the facility in North Ridgeville to perform hydrogen testing on their products. He 
explained that they were doing the testing to stay ahead of the market as hydrogen was being 
looked at as an alternative test fuel. He added that they had two other test facilities, one being in 
England and the other in Italy and that they wanted to compliment those with the proposed 
facility. 

Vice-Chairwoman Swallow asked if that was something that could be done inside the current 
building. 

Mr. Baker remarked that it couldn't. 



NORTH RIDGEVILLE PLANNING COMMISSION PAGE 2 
SPECIAL MEETING – TUESDAY, MAY 19, 2022 

Member Graupmann asked if there were circumstances that caused the project's need to be 
expedited. 

Mr. Baker replied that there were. He explained that they had several customers that were 
interested in their project. 

Member Graupmann asked if the building would go up quickly. 

Mr. Baker indicated that it would and that was why they had opted to go with a prefab building 
so that it could be transported in and dropped on site.  He stated that they were going through the 
IU (Industrialized Units) with the State of Ohio so that when the building showed up it would 
already have been certified both electrically for the fire rating and thermally. He explained that 
because they would be heating and cooling the space, that would lend itself to go through the IU. 

Member Graupmann asked if they would be using hydrogen in the building. 

Mr. Baker remarked that they would but that they would not be storing hydrogen. He explained 
that both the hydrogen and propane would be stored outside of the building with the specified 
distances using the NFPA (National Fire Protection Association) standards for hydrogen. He 
further explained that the gases would be separated and would come into the building from 
outside the building and only penetrate through the wall where they would have their test 
stations. He added that even if there was a leak, that it would go to atmoshpere. He explained 
that the room also had controls in it to provide adequate air changes and that there was one air 
change a minute. He stated that it would then go up to three air changes a minute if there was a 
leak detected. He added that there was leak detection inside the building and that the building 
had a two hour fire rating. 

Council Liaison Abens asked if Mr. Baker said that the State certified the electrical. 

Mr. Baker indicated that it was in the process. 

Council Liaison Abens remarked that it was his understanding that they needed the whole 
building certified by the State and he wasn't sure that the company could get it done. 

Chief Building Official Fursdon stated that they were. He stated that they contacted the Board of 
Building Standards and that it was his understanding that they gave them an engineer to pick 
from and that engineer was going up to Canada to do all of the inspections that the State 
required. 

Mr. Baker responded that that was correct. 

Vice-Chairwoman Swallow asked if there were any comments or questions from the 
Commission. 

None were given. 



NORTH RIDGEVILLE PLANNING COMMISSION PAGE 3 
SPECIAL MEETING – TUESDAY, MAY 19, 2022 

Vice-Chairwoman Swallow asked if there were any comments or questions from the 
Administration. 

Assistant Law Director Morgan asked about Fire Department's access to the building, if it was 
taken into account. 

Mr. Baker stated that he had talked to the Assistant Fire Chief and they are going to develop a 
plan where he would engage in what he would have to do if he had to show up on scene so that 
they would be aware of how the facility works. He explained that there was external signaling on 
the panel so that they could see what the level was and what the lower explosive limit was in the 
room so that when the Assistant Fire Chief came on site, that he would be aware of what was 
going on in the facility. He indicated that once they moved forward, he would meet with him and 
develop a plan that would be layed out. 

City Engineer Rodriguez mentioned that he saw they had a two inch pvc water line and asked if 
they were going to have a faucet in the building but no toilets or anything like that. 

Mr. Baker discussed that there wouldn't be any sink or toilet. He stated that it was meant to just 
be a test facility. He explained that they did have floor drains because they would be running 
water to condition the equipment they would be testing which could be water heaters and boilers 
so they would need water flowing through it.  He stated that the only thing going down the drain 
would be a potable water. He remarked that they would not be storing any hazardous materials or 
chemicals in the building and that everything would be exterior, piped in. 

It was moved by Grapuman and seconded by Abens to approve the plans.    

A roll call vote was taken and the motion carried.  
 

 Yes – 3 No – 0         

ADJOURNMENT: 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:11 PM. 

 
 
______________________  _______________________ 
James Smolik   Tina Wieber 
Chairman   Deputy Clerk of Council 

 Tuesday, June 14, 2022  
Date Approved 



To:                  Safety Service Director Armbruster

From:             Chief Michael Freeman

This Period Year to Date PYTD

Officer Activity 2400 10,288 9889

Calls for Service 1002 4260 3888

Traffic Citations 325 1321 1159

Traffic Detail Citations/Arrests 114 474 430

Parking Citations 11 54 43

Criminal Arrests 54 271 251

Warnings 116 455 1410

Total Work Hours 4694 19,474 19,053

Accidents Investigated 34 167 153

Accident Citations 27 108 100

DUI Arrests 11 37 42

This Period Year to Date PYTD

Total Current Case Load 33 n/a n/a

Cases Cleared by Arrest 1 30 14

Cases Placed in Open Inactive 2 7 7

Cases Unfounded 2 7 5

Cases Cleared Exceptionally 0 2 10

Criminal Arrests this Period 8 78 37

Total Work Hours 778 3118 2979

 NORTH RIDGEVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT                                                                                                                

Chief Michael Freeman

Subject:         Monthly Activity Report April 2022

The following is a condensed report of select activities performed by the police department for the period 

covering April 2022.  All figures herein have been compiled from the records of this department.

PATROL DIVISION ACTIVITY

DETECTIVE BUREAU ACTIVITY



This Period YTD PYTD

Number of Calls Received 915 3756 3364

Number of Persons On Station 125 356 244

Total Work Hours 581 2383.5 2692

FLEET MILEAGE INFORMATION

*Vehicle mileage will be completed once per quarter

April 2022

Vehicle ID# License# Vehicle Year Current Odometer 

X-112 1 2012 1159

X-115 509 2014 98,263

X-119 47 2014 84,496

X-122 41 2015 96,695
X-123 54 2015 99,800
X-128 51 2015 85,071

X-129 504 2015 84,447

X-132 505 2016 74,710

X-133 609 2016 71,894

X-134 38 2016 85,245

X-135 37 2016 71,460

X-137 Jeep 2015 71,393

X-138 76 2017 70,545

X-139 607 2017 63,947

X-140 503 2017 35,540

X-141 75 2017 59,605

X-142 610 2017 75,909

X-143 604 2018 91,957

X-144 79 2018 49,000

X-145 603 2018 72,500

X-146 70 2018 38,500

X-147 48 2018 70,141

X-151 39 2019 38,107

X-152 606 2019 65,959
X-153 42 2019 38,717
X-154 74 2019 35,500

X-155 601 2019 37,321

X-157 57 2020 36,500

X-158 63 2020 20,700

X-159 49 2020 19,887

X-160 50 2020 21,574

DISPATCH  ACTIVITY



X-161 77 2020 30,300

X-163 611 2021 5,500

X-164 608 2021 6,065

X-165 600 2021 14,627

X-166 602 2021 22,344

X-167 605 2021 16,890

X-168 Jeep 2009 34,347

Sincerely, 

Michael Freeman

Chief of Police

While this statistical synopsis in no way accounts for all of the activities that this department is tasked with 

performing, it does provide for, in very general terms, a brief overview of some of the more common police 

tasks.



Date Location Activity Disposition Minutes Unit

4/4/22 SR 83 / Lorain Rd Accident Non-Injury Citations / Report 9 42

4/4/22 SR 83 / Lorain Rd Accident Non-Injury Assisted #42 5 49

4/6/22 Motel 6 - 32751 Lorain Rd. Disturbance GOA 10 57

4/9/22 Root Rd / Sicily Traffic Stop Assisted #41 7 42

4/10/22 SR 83 / US 20 Traffic Stop Verbal warning / Marked lanes 3 50

4/11/22 SR 83 / Mildred Traffic Stop Verbal warning / Speed 5 50

4/12/22 Sugar Ridge / Line Dr. Traffic Stop Verbal warning / Speed 3 77

4/15/22 Sheetz - 32390 Lorain Rd. Suspicious Person Checks OK 15 77

4/16/22 US 20 / SR 83 Traffic Complaint / DMV Assisted 13 50

4/17/22 8922 Jordan Cir. Alarm Checks OK 6 77

4/19/22 Stoney Ridge / Avalon Traffic Stop Verbal warning 5 75

4/20/22 SR 10 EB / Alt 83 Exit Ramp Traffic Stop Verbal warning 3 54

4/21/22 Bainbridge Rd / Pop Schultz Traffic Stop Assisted #42 2 41

4/24/22 36896 Chestnut Ridge Rd Suspicious Condition Checks OK 9 42

4/28/22 I 480 WB Reckless Operation GOA 10 57

4/29/22 US 20 / Ridgeview Accident Non-Injury OH-1 10 39

Minutes Hours

115 1.92
Total Time 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE POLICE DEPARTMENT

Officer Support Car Program Activity

April 2022

ACTIONS TAKEN IN SUPPORT CAR



City of North Ridgeville Department of Parks and Recreation 
Parks and Recreation Commission 
Directors Report  
Date:  May 25, 2022 

 
 

TRUST FUND REVENUE (275): 
Month 2021 Fiscal Year 2022 Fiscal Year Difference + / -  Percentage +/- 

January $10,504.55 $24,138.96 (+) $13,634.41 (+) 129.79% 
February $18,907.28 $30,111.32 (+) $11,204.04 (+) 59.36% 

March $22,709.53 $33,925.06 (+) $11,215.53 (+) 49.39% 
April $28,485.28 $22,365.57 (-) $6,119.71 (-) 21.48% 

Total $80,606.64 $110,540.91 (+) $29,934.27 (+) 37.14% 
 
Unencumbered balance in April 2022:  $223,369.01 

 
 

PARK AND RECREATION IMPROVEMENT FUND REVENUE (280): 
Month 2021 Fiscal Year 2022 Fiscal Year Difference + / - Percentage +/- 

January $7,750.00 $1,656.71 (-) $6,093.29 (-) 78.62% 
February $9,772.95 $2,654.10 (-) $7,118.85 (-) 72.84% 

March $12,634.97 $6,922.88 (-) $5,712.09 (-) 45.21% 
April $6,506.58 $2,659.90 (-) $3,846.68 (-) 59.12% 

Total $36,664.50 $13,893.59 (-) $22,770.91 (-) 62.11% 
 
Unencumbered balance in April 2022:  $211,455.23 
 
GENERAL FUND EXPENSES (185): 

Month 2021 Fiscal Year 2022 Fiscal Year 
January $47,457.66 $67,119.38 

February $72,654.21 $62,179.88 
March $54,527.42 $66,046.07 

April $69,243.57 $77,108.58 
Total $243,882.86 $272,453.91 

 
TRUST FUND EXPENSES (275): 

Month 2021 Fiscal Year 2022 Fiscal Year 
January $6,915.75 $22,798.28 

February $10,474.39 $14,752.73 
March $13,522.35 $22,197.34 

April $14,118.40 $16,671.30 
Total $45,030.89 $76,419.65 

 
 
DIRECTORS REPORT:   
 
Kevin McDowell: 
The Grounds Maintenance Department hired Kevin McDowell to fill the vacant position of Maintenance Technician.  Kevin comes to us 
from Aqua Marine Apartments as he served as their Service Technician since 2017.  Kevin has over 11 years of maintenance experience.  
We had 30 + applicants for the position.  Kevin started with the City on Monday, May 9.  Kevin seems to be fitting in extremely well and we 
are happy to have him apart of our team. 
 
John Galippo: 
After 17 years John Galippo is leaving the City.  John has accepted a new position as a laborer with Sheffield Lake.  John’s last day with 
the City was Friday, May 20.  We wish John nothing but the best and want to thank him for all the hard work over the last 17 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
PROGRAM REPORT: 
 
Program Name: Fishing Derby 
Date: May 7, 2022 
Time:  7:30a.m.-Noon 
 
Program Description: 
The Fishing Derby on May 7th turned out to be a beautiful day. Unfortunately the forecast leading up to the event was less than ideal. We 
ended up having around 80 at the event out of the 120 that pre-registered. We had a strong showing of volunteers from the North 
Ridgeville Fire Department and the North Ridgeville Fishing Club. 
 
 
Program Name: Youth Tennis Program 
Ages: 4-6 / 7-9 / 10-14 year olds 
Dates: Session I:  June 6-June 22 
Days:  M / W 
Instructor: Eric Hodge, USPTR Professional 
Location: South Central Park Pickleball/Tennis Courts  
Enrollment:  
4-6:  10 (full) 
7-9:  09 (full) 
10-14: 09 
 
Program Description:  
Are you looking for a new sports experience for your child? How about a professionally run introduction to a sport of a life time. Eric is a 
certified USPTR professional for over 20 years. Head tennis professional at Force Sports Rocky River for the past 7 years. As graduate 
and resident of North Ridgeville he is looking forward to working with the youth of the community. All participants should bring water, 
sunscreen & racquet. 
 
 
Program Name: Men’s Basketball League 
Date: June - August 
Current Enrollment:  03 teams (as of 05.17.2022) 
 
Program Description: 
5v5 men’s basketball open recreation league. Teams will play an 8 game regular season, followed by a single elimination tournament.  
 
 
Program Name: Touch A Truck:  Sponsored By: Legacy Roofing & Keller Williams Citywide 
Date: Saturday, June 4 
Time:  10:00AM-2:00PM 
Location: Shady Drive Complex 
 
Program Description:  
Get up close and personal with all kinds of big trucks! This unique event encourages children (and adults!) to touch vehicles, ask questions 
and even climb inside to take in the view from the driver’s seat. 
 
North Ridgeville Parks and Recreation will have a sensory friendly version of the popular event. The first 2 hours of this event we will be 
sensory friendly. Climb in and check out your favorite trucks & emergency vehicles without the lights, sirens and horns! Organized for 
children that are sensitive and people with Autism Spectrum Disorder in mind .This way, everyone can enjoy the cool diggers, dumpers, 
and emergency vehicles without upsetting lights and noises. Contact Melissa Shirley for more information. 
 



 
Program Name:  Safetyville 
Date:  June 6-10 & June 13-17 
Time: 8:00a.m.-2:45p.m. 
Current Enrollment 

Session I 36 
Session II 36 
Session III 36 
Session IV 21 
Session V 17 
Session VI 35 
Session VII 16 
Session VIII 10 
Total: 207 

 
Program Description: 
The North Ridgeville Police Department is sponsoring its annual Safetyville program. The program provides an educational setting in which 
children are exposed to various safety topics with regard to traffic, school bus, stranger danger, 911, fire safety, and more. The children 
receive their lessons inside an enclosed classroom and practice these lessons outside within a realistic miniature village. Each session is 
one week. The Safetyville program is for kids entering kindergarten in the fall of 2022, but is not a prerequisite for kindergarten. Numbers 
are down -120 kids over 2021 but only down -48 kids over 2019. 
 
 
Program Name: All Levels Yoga 
Date: THURS. 5/5/2022 - 6/9/2022 
Time: 7:30PM - 8:30PM 
Current Enrollment: 11 
 
Program Description: 
Our class, beginners to experienced students, will do poses focusing on alignment, focus-point and breath. The class is a low-to-medium 
paced flow of movement. You will receive personalized instruction in this 6-week course that shows the fundamentals of yoga. You will 
explore classic yoga poses, learn healthy body alignment, experiment with modifications and props, and become comfortable with the 
nature of yoga. Each session is 6 weeks. 
 
Program Name: Preschool Yoga 
Date: WED. 4/27/2022 - 5/18/2022 
Time: 5:30PM - 6:30PM 
Current Enrollment: 05 
 
Program Description: 
Children ages 3-6 will use play, songs, books and dancing to learn different yoga poses and strategies to help them develop body 
awareness, self-control, flexibility and strength. Preschoolers will enhance their creativity, confidence and coordination through the duration 
of class. Minimal parental involvement encouraged. 
 
Program Name: Summer Adventure Camp 
Date: June 6-August 12 (10 weeks) 
Time:  7:30AM-5:30PM  
Enrollment:  300 kids (All 10 weeks of Summer Camp are FULL) 
 
Program Description: 
Summer break is just around the corner and you don’t have a babysitter. What are you going to do? North Ridgeville Summer Adventure 
Camp is the perfect place for your child. Camp will provide your child with opportunities to make new friends, play games, make art 
projects, and enjoy a small snack. Emergency medical forms must be completed and turned in prior. Be sure to pack a non-perishable 
lunch and drink, bring a bathing suit, towel, sunscreen, and tennis shoes each day! We will be going on a field trip each week and have 
special guests throughout the summer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 















 

 

 

COUNCIL MEETING: June 6, 2022  

 

REFERRED TO: N/A   

 

Members of Council: 

 

We have considered the matter(s) of:  

 

T 84-2022 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE PENALTY SECTION OF N.R.C.O. SECTION 

432.30, STOPPING FOR SCHOOL BUS. 
 (Introduced by Councilwoman Holly Swenk; First Reading on 5/16/2022) 

 

Motion: Moved by DeVries and seconded by Abens to table T 84-2022 for further discussion. 

Voice Vote: 3-0 

 

Discussion to amend certain sections of N.R.C.O Chapter 476, Snowmobiles, Off-Highway Motorcycles 

and All-Purpose Vehicles.  

 

Motion: Moved by Swenk and seconded by DeVries to have the Law Department draft 

legislation with the requested changes, and for the Clerk to add new temporary numbers to 

be reintroduced. 

Voice Vote: 3-0 

 

 

Printed:  May 31, 2022           Signed: June 6, 2022 

 

 

Member: Bruce Abens                    Member:        

 

 

Member: Martin DeVries                              Member:        

 

 

Chairperson: Holly Swenk  Chairperson:        

    SAFETY COMMITTEE 

DATE:   May 31, 2022  

 
 

 

  CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE 

 CITY COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORT 



DATE:  June 6, 2022  1
ST

 READING: June 6, 2022 

INTRODUCED BY:  Mayor Corcoran  2
ND

 READING:  

REFERRED BY:   3
RD

 READING:   

TEMPORARY NO:    T 87-2022  ADOPTED:  

   EMERGENCY:  
 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING EXHIBIT B OF 

ORDINANCE 5596-2018 AND SUBSEQUENT 

AMENDMENTS THERETO IN ORDER TO ESTABLISH 

THE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS AFFORDED TO 

DEPARTMENT HEADS AND CERTAIN DISCRETIONARY 

EMPLOYEES. 

 WHEREAS, City Council and the Administration wish to amend Exhibit B of the 

Department Head Ordinance No. 5596-2018 by making certain sections comparable to the 

AFSCME contract; and  

 

 WHEREAS, currently Section 6 (B), Vacation Eligibility, states the following: 

   

  B. Vacation leave shall be taken within twelve (12) months after credited and  

   shall expire at the end of that period if not used; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a provision regarding longevity needs to be added since currently there is 

none. 
 

  NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE, LORAIN COUNTY, OHIO, THAT: 

 SECTION 1.  Exhibit B of Ordinance No. 5596-2018 shall be amended as follows: 

 Section 6 –Vacation  

  B. Eligibility 

   An employee who has five (5) or more years of service shall be permitted 

to cash in some vacation time which has accrued and been posted to their 

account on the date of the employee’s next anniversary date.  This election 

shall take place prior to the employee’s anniversary date with payment to 

be made (once per employee’s anniversary year) in the payroll period that 

includes the employee’s anniversary date.  No payment of vacation time 

which is anticipated to post to the employee’s account shall be made prior 

to the anniversary date upon which the anticipated vacation time will 

accrue to the account.  In no event shall an employee cash in more than 

one-half (1/2) of their annual vacation. 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 2. 

 
 

 SECTION 2.  Exhibit B of Ordinance No. 5596-2018 shall be amended as follows: 

   D. Carryover of Vacation 

    An employee shall be permitted to carry over up to forty (40) hours of 

vacation for use within six (6) months of the employee’s anniversary date 

on approval of the Department Head and Safety-Service Director. Any 

vacation time remaining in an employee’s account on his/her anniversary 

date after any carryover, up to but not exceeding one-half (1/2) of the 

employee’s annual vacation allowance will be automatically cashed out 

and paid to the employee at their regular rate of pay.   

 SECTION 3. The following section regarding Longevity shall be added to Exhibit B of 

Ordinance 5596-2018:  

 

SECTION 13 - LONGEVITY 

 

A. For all employees covered by this Ordinance, longevity shall be paid according to the 

following schedule. Longevity will be paid in a lump sum on the first pay period 

following the anniversary date of the employee’s employment. Longevity shall 

continue to be awarded on the employee’s successive anniversary date in accordance 

with this schedule.   

 

      5th Anniversary  $   800.00  15th Anniversary $2,000.00  

      6th Anniversary  $   800.00  16th Anniversary $2,100.00 

      7th Anniversary  $   800.00  17th Anniversary $2,200.00 

      8th Anniversary   $1,300.00  18th Anniversary $2,300.00 

      9th Anniversary  $1,400.00  19th Anniversary $2,400.00 

      10th Anniversary  $1,500.00  20th Anniversary $2,500.00 

      11th Anniversary  $1,600.00  21th Anniversary $2,600.00 

      12th Anniversary  $1,700.00  22th Anniversary $2,700.00 

      13th Anniversary  $1,800.00  23th Anniversary $2,800.00 

      14th Anniversary  $1,900.00  28th Anniversary $3,000.00 

 

For all employees hired after the adoption of this agreement, upon an employee’s 

twenty-third (23rd) anniversary date and every year up to his/her twenty-eighth (28th) 

anniversary, the employee shall receive two thousand eight hundred ($2,800.00) 

dollars, annually. Upon his/her twenty-eighth (28th) anniversary date and thereafter, 

the employee shall receive three thousand ($3,000.00) dollars, annually.  In no event 

shall the maximum amount paid under this Section exceed three thousand ($3,000.00) 

dollars, annually, to any single employee 

 

B. The Employer will pay longevity payments in a separate check. Longevity payments 

shall be prorated for those employees on any unpaid status in excess of thirty (30) 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 3. 

 
 

days during the year. Longevity payments shall not be paid on the same pay period as 

any leave cash outs.  

 

SECTION  4.  This amending ordinance shall be retroactive to January 1, 2022. 

      

 SECTION 5.  It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 

concerning and relating to the adoption of this Ordinance were conducted in an open meeting of 

this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in 

such formal action were in meetings open to the public in accordance with all legal requirements, 

including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 SECTION 6.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after the 

earliest period allowed by law. 

 

PASSED:___________________________ _________________________________ 

  PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  

 

  ATTEST:_________________________ 

                     CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED:_________________________ _________________________________ 

   MAYOR 

  



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 4. 

 
 

EXHIBIT "B" 

Section 1 - Positions Covered 

Mayor (as it applies to pension pick-up and insurance programs only) 

Safety-Service Director 

Engineer 

Assistant Engineer 

Civil Engineer I (EI) 

Civil Engineer II (PE) 

Auditor 

Deputy Auditor 

Treasurer 

Chief Building Inspector 

Asst. Chief Building Inspector 

Parks & Recreation Director 

Superintendent of the French Creek WWTP 

Asst. Superintendent of the French Creek WWTP 

Laboratory Manager 

Superintendent of the Service Department 

Director of the Department of Public Utilities 

Clerk of Mayor's Court, CMC 

Clerk of Mayor's Court 

Assistant Clerk of Council, CMC 

Assistant Clerk of Council 

Director of the Department of Older Adult Services 

Case Manager 

ISD/Network Coordinator 

Assistant Law Director/Prosecutor 

Prosecutor 

Human Resource Director 

Inc Tax Administrator 

Office Administrator 
Director of Planning and Economic Development Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 5. 

 
 

SECTION 2 - NORMAL HOURS OF WORK 

 

The normal work period shall generally be forty (40) hours of work over a seven (7) day period, 

starting at 12:01 a.m. Sunday to 12:00 p.m. midnight Saturday, but may be varied at the 

discretion of the Mayor and/or Safety-Service Director. Employees shall generally be scheduled 

for five (5) eight (8) hours workdays within the applicable seven (7) day period, which may be 

varied from time to time, at the discretion of the Mayor and/or Safety-Service Director. An 

employee's scheduled hours of work shall be exclusive of any lunch period which shall be 

unpaid. The general lunch period shall be thirty (30) or sixty (60) minutes as determined by the 

Mayor and/or Safety-Service Director. 

 

Regular daily work hours shall be set by the Mayor and/or Safety-Service Director and may vary 

as determined by the Mayor and/or Safety-Service Director. 

 

SECTION 3 - OVERTIME ELIGIBILITY 

 

Each position listed above in Section I shall be designated as exempt or non-covered pursuant to 

the FLSA for overtime eligibility purposes. 

 

Exempt and non-covered employees designated by the City shall not be eligible for overtime. 

 

SECTION 4 - SICK LEAVE 

 

A. Definition of Sick Leave 

 

Sick leave shall be defined as an absence with pay necessitated by: 

 

A. Illness or injury to the employee; 

 

B. Disabilities due to pregnancy or delivery of child; 

 

C. For bonding with a newborn or adopted child of the employee for a period not to 

exceed two (2) weeks from the date of the child's birth; 

 

D. Exposure of the employee to contagious disease deemed communicable to other 

employees and determined to be a health and safety issue by the Mayor/designee; 

 

E. Illness or injury in the employee's immediate family. 

 

B. Definition of Immediate Family 

 

Where the use of sick leave is due to illness or injury to the employee's immediate family, 

"immediate family" shall be defined to include only the employee, employee's spouse, 

employee's children, and employee's parents. 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 6. 

 
 

 

C. Accumulation of Sick Leave 

 

Employees shall earn sick leave at the rate of four and six-tenths (4.6) hours for every eighty (80) 

hours worked in active pay status and shall accumulate such sick leave for future use to an 

unlimited amount. Hours worked or in active pay status in excess of eighty (80) during a pay 

period shall not be eligible for additional sick leave accrual. Employees shall not accrue sick 

leave as a result of any separation payout made pursuant to subsection D below. 

 

D. Payment Upon Separation 

 

Upon the occurrence of any of the following events, an employee who has completed ten (10) 

years of continued service with the Employer shall be entitled to a cash payment of the value of 

the herein defined amount of earned and unused sick leave hours: 

 

1) Retirement of the employee; 

2) Disability retirement of the employee' 

3) Death of the employee; and 

4) Separation from employment for any reason except termination for cause. 

 

Any employee qualifying pursuant to the above provisions of this article shall be entitled to 

receive a cash payment equal to his/her hourly base rate of pay at that time of the occurrence of 

an above-listed event up to but not exceeding five hundred (500) hours of pay as certified by the 

City Auditor. If the qualifying employee is deceased, the payment shall be made pursuant to the 

provisions of the Ohio Revised Code 2113.04. 

 

E. Reporting Off Work 

 

An employee who is to be absent on sick leave shall notify the Mayor or his/her designee of such 

absence and the reason therefore at least one-half (1/2) hour after the start of his/her work shift 

each day he/she is absent, except in unusual circumstances or with permission of the Mayor 

/designee. Failure to properly report off work shall be cause for discipline. 

 

F. Charging of Sick Leave 

 

Sick leave may be used in segments of not less than one-half of one hour (30 minutes). The 

Auditor's office shall be responsible for tracking sick leave usage and balances. 

 

G. Documentation Justifying Use of Sick Leave 

 

Before an absence may be charged against accumulated sick leave, the Employer may require 

such proof of illness /injury of the employee, or of a qualifying family member of the employee, 

as may be satisfactory to justify the use of sick leave, or may require the employee to be 

examined by a physician, paid for by the Employer and selected by the Mayor and/ or Safety-



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 7. 

 
 

Service Director. In any event,  an employee absent on sick leave must supply a written and 

signed statement on a form provided by the Employer attesting to his/her illness to be eligible for 

payment of sick leave.  For an absence in excess of three (3) working days or for accumulated 

absences of five (5) or more days in a rolling sixty (60) day period the Emp1oyee shall be 

required to present a doctor's certificate at the employee's expense to justify the use, and payment 

of sick leave or receive approval from the Safety-Service Director. 

 

If the employee fails to submit proof of illness/injury of the employee or a qualifying family 

member of the employee upon request, or in the event that upon such proof as is submitted or 

upon the report of medical examination, the Mayor and /or SafetyService Director finds that 

there is no satisfactory evidence of illness/injury of the employee or of a qualifying relative of 

the employee sufficient to justify the employee's absence, such leave shall be considered 

unauthorized leave and may be without pay. Unauthorized absence without leave may subject the 

employee to discipline. 

 

H. Return to Duty Medical Examination 

 

The Safety-Service Director or his/her designee may require an employee who has been absent 

due to personal illness or injury, prior to and as a condition of his/her return to duty, to be 

examined by a physician designated by the Employer (at the Employer's expense) to establish 

that the employee is mentally and physically capable of performing the essential functions of 

his/her position and that his/her return to duty will not jeopardize the health and safety of the 

employee or other employees. 

 

I. Fitness for Duty Medical Examination 

 

If the Employer has a reasonable basis for believing that an employee is no longer mentally 

and/or physically capable of performing the essential functions of his/her position or poses a 

threat to himself or others, the Employer may order an examination by an appropriately qualified 

medical professional at the Employer's expense. Upon receipt of the medical professional's 

opinion on fitness for work which disqualifies the employee for return to work, the Employer 

and the employee will meet to discuss possible alternatives and/or accommodations. 

 

J. Discipline 

 

An employee must comply with all rules and regulations on sick leave in order to receive sick 

leave pay. Falsification of sick leave documents, or abuse of sick leave as determined by the 

Employer, is grounds for disciplinary action. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 8. 

 
 

SECTION 5 - PAID SICK LEAVE DONATION 

 

A. Policy:  It shall be the policy of the Employer that employees with accumulated Sick 

Leave may donate paid Sick Leave to a fellow employee who, in strictly serious or 

catastrophic cases, is in need of assistance and has exhausted all of their available leave/time. 

 

B. Purpose:  The purpose of this program is to: 

 

(A) allow employees to voluntarily provide assistance to their co-workers who are in 

critical need of leave due to circumstances necessitating the use of Sick Leave as set 

forth in Section 4(A) above (Sick Leave); 

(B) establish strict guidelines for the implementation of donation of paid Sick Leave time; 

and 

(C) to protect the investment the Employer has made in an employee in an effort to retain 

that employee. 

 

C. Eligibility: Any full-time employee listed in Section 1 above is eligible, after one year of 

service, to apply for the benefit of this policy. The employee must apply through the Mayor 

or Safety-Service Director. ALL of the following must apply to the circumstances of the 

recipient employee: 

 

(A) the employee is not eligible for Worker's Compensation benefits; 

(B) the employee has not been disciplined at any level for patterned use of sick leave within 

the previous three (3) years; 

(C) the employee has exhausted all accrued time available to him/her including sick time, 

personal time, comp time, vacation time, merit time or holiday (or birthday time), and 

(D) the employee can, if requested, provide documentation through medical records that 

there is a bona fide medical reason for his/her inability to work. 

 

D. Duration: The maximum length of time that an employee may receive benefits under this 

program is eight (8) pay periods. 

 

E. Participation of Donor Employee: 

 

(A) Any full-time employee is eligible after one (1) year of service and may choose to 

participate in the sick leave donation program. 

(B) An employee must have and maintain a minimum of eight weeks (320 hours) of 

accumulated Sick Leave to be eligible to participate as a donor. 

(C) An employee who is donating paid leave may donate up to forty (40) hours of sick 

leave per donee per incident, in increments no less than eight (8) hours. An employee 

may donate to an eligible recipient employee repeatedly. 

 

F. Application Review:  Upon receiving an application for sick leave donation, the Mayor or 

Safety Service Director shall review the application and: 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 9. 

 
 

 

(A) Evaluate whether there has or has not been any documented disciplinary action at any 

level for the patterned use of sick leave or abuse of sick leave within the previous three 

(3) years by the donor employee in their department; and 

(B) Verify that the cause of absence is not work-related. 

(C) The application is then forwarded to the Auditor's Office for review and verification 

that the employee has no time (of any nature) available to the credit of their account. 

The application is then forwarded to the Mayor's Office for approval or denial. If all 

eligibility requirements have been met and the application is approved, the application 

shall be returned to the Auditor's Office for disbursement proceedings. Transfer 

Participation Forms are to be distributed to all Department Heads and Area Stewards 

for leave donations. If any eligibility requirement is not met, the application is denied 

and returned to the applicant who shall be advised as to the reason for denial. 

 

G. Disbursement of Donated Sick Leave:  Upon receiving an approved application, the Auditor's 

Office shall credit the employee approved for the donation of sick time hours under this 

policy and disburse in the following manner: 

 

(A) Any time the employee has accrued shall be used first; and 

 

(B) Then on a rotating basis from employees that have signed up to donate; the first person 

submitting paperwork to donate shall be docked first, then the next person, and so on. 

Any donor employee's accumulated paid leave shall be reduced in eight (8) hour 

increments. 

 

The transfer of benefits shall be calculated on a prorated basis to be determined by the rate of pay 

of the donor employee for the donee employee. 

 

H. Recovery of Donated Sick Leave:   In the event that an employee who has received benefits 

under this program are reimbursed in any manner for the lost work time covered by this 

benefit, the employee must reimburse the Employer for the pay that was received. The donor 

employee shall be credited with the hours donated. 

 

I. Unex pended balance of donated Sick Leave:  An employee receiving donated Sick Leave 

who returns to work may retain up to forty (40) hours of donated Sick Leave. Donated Sick 

Leave will not be eligible for cash conversion by the recipient. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 10. 

 
 

SECTION 6 - VACATION 

 

A. Accrual Amount for Full-Time Employees 

 

All regular full-time employees shall be granted the following vacation leave with full pay each 

year based upon their length of employment with the Employer, as follows: 

 

1 to 4 years  = 10 days, 80 hours, or 2 weeks 

5 to 9 years  = 15 days, 120 hours, or 3 weeks 

10 to 14 years  = 20 days,  I 60 hours, or 4 weeks 

15 to 19 years  = 25 days, 200 hours, or 5 weeks 

20 and over  = 30 days, 240 hours, or 6 weeks 

 

Vacation is not earned while an employee is in no-pay status (leave of absence, disciplinary 

suspensions, etc.). 

 

In order to attract qualified candidates at the time of hiring, the Mayor shall have the authority to 

grant a newly hired full-time employee vacation credit. At the Mayor's discretion, the employee 

shall have a specific number of years credited to him/her and shall be placed on the vacation 

schedule above. The employee shall then progress forward accordingly on the vacation schedule 

with the credited time applied in the same manner as if it had accrued by term of service. Any 

vacation service credit shall be documented in writing and placed in the employee's personnel 

file by the City Auditor. The Mayor shall have said right notwithstanding Ordinance 2287-88 

which generally prohibits granting of vacation credit for prior public service. 

 

Any credit already given by the Mayor to any employee currently occupying one of the positions 

identified in Section 1 shall continue to be honored until said employee's separation from 

employment. 

 

B. Eligibility 

 

An employee who has five (5) or more years of service shall be permitted to cash in some 

vacation time which has accrued and been posted to their account on the date of the employee’s 

next anniversary date.  This election shall take place prior to the employee’s anniversary date 

with payment to be made (once per employee’s anniversary year) in the payroll period that 

includes the employee’s anniversary date.  No payment of vacation time which is anticipated to 

post to the employee’s account shall be made prior to the anniversary date upon which the 

anticipated vacation time will accrue to the account.  In no event shall an employee cash in more 

than one-half (1/2) of their annual vacation. 

C. Scheduling of Vacation 

 

During the first quarter of each calendar year, employees may be given an opportunity to indicate 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 11. 

 
 

their vacation preference on a form provided by the Employer. As necessary, a written vacation 

schedule may be prepared by the Employer.  Where two or more employees have requested the 

same vacation dates, and operational needs do not permit granting all of the requests, at the 

Employer's discretion vacation preference may be given to employees according to seniority. 

Any employee who fails to make his/her vacation application during the appropriate period, if 

any, will be given his/her vacation leave without regard to seniority based upon when the 

application was made. 

 

Employees shall be allowed to take their vacation in one (1) week increments, not to exceed two 

(2) consecutive weeks, unless an exception is approved by the Safety-Service Director in 

advance of the proposed vacation. Employees may take vacation in one (1) day segments, 

providing the employee requests such time off at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance, and the 

Employer grants such request 

 

D. Carryover of Vacation 

 

An employee shall be permitted to carry over up to forty (40) hours of vacation for use within six 

(6) months of the employee’s anniversary date on approval of the Department Head and Safety-

Service Director. Any vacation time remaining in an employee’s account on his/her anniversary 

date after any carryover, up to but not exceeding one-half (1/2) of the employee’s annual 

vacation allowance will be automatically cashed out and paid to the employee at their regular 

rate of pay.  

 

E. Payment Upon Separation 

 

If an employee eligible to receive vacation is separated from employment voluntarily or 

involuntarily prior to taking his/her vacation, he/she shall receive any fully earned but unused 

vacation leave accrued under Section A above. If the employee is deceased, the payment shall be 

made pursuant to the provisions of Ohio Revised Code §2113.04 

 

SECTION 7 - UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 

A. Medical Leave of Absence 

 

An employee who has completed his/her probationary period and who has exhausted all 

available leave balances shall be granted a leave of absence for a period not to exceed one 

hundred eighty (180) days because of personal illness or injury or on account of pregnancy upon 

the request of the employee with sufficient supporting medical evidence. The length of the leave 

granted will be based upon the Employer's review of the supporting medical evidence.  Such 

leave shall be without pay or benefits except that health insurance shall be provided during 

leaves of one hundred eighty (180) days or less. Any leave granted under this Section may be 

extended at the discretion of the Mayor/Safety-Service Director. 

 

B. Military Leave 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 12. 

 
 

 

See Ordinance Ord. 4032-2004. 

 

SECTION 8 - INSURANCE PROGRAMS 

 

The City shall provide medical, dental, and prescription Insurance  Programs as determined by 

the Mayor or his designee to all full-time employees and non-full-time employees as otherwise 

required by law. A11 employees enrolled in the Insurance Programs shall contribute monthly 

toward the premium cost for said insurance at the rate established by the Mayor/designee.  The 

applicable employee contribution for any Insurance Program will be determined by using the 

actuarially calculated based COBRA rates if any. The employee contribution will be at the 

percentages defined above of those COBRA rate figures rounded to the nearest dollar. These 

figures may be adjusted based upon updates to the base COBRA rate. Employee contributions 

shall be withheld in equal or roughly equal monthly installments from the first two payrolls paid 

each month. Contributions withheld for each month will be for that month's enrollment (i.e., 

amounts withheld in January will be for January enrollment). 

 

SECTION 9 - LIFE INSURANCE 

 

All Department Heads, Supervisory Personnel and Confidential Employees designated by City 

ordinance shall be supplied life insurance in the amount equal to that which is provided to 

members of the AFSCME bargaining unit for life insurance pursuant to the terms of the 

collective bargaining agreement.  Said life insurance shall be provided at no cost to the 

employee.   

 

SECTION 10 - SCHOOL COST REIMBURSEMENT 

 

An employee who takes an Employer approved college course, or work-related training course, 

or seminar, shall be reimbursed the actual costs of such training course, including the cost of 

course textbooks verifiable by receipt in an amount not to exceed $5,250.00 per year. In order to 

be reimbursed, the employee must receive a grade of "C" or better, or the equivalent.  The 

employee must obtain written approval of the Mayor or his designee in advance of enrollment to 

be reimbursed. 

 

SECTION 11 - TRACKING OF LEAVE  

 

The Auditor shall track all leave balances (accumulation and use of leave) in accordance with the 

rules established by the applicable sections above and/or any policies and procedures established 

by the Mayor/Safety-Service Director, including but not limited to the City of North Ridgeville 

Employee Handbook as amended from time to time by the Mayor.  

 

SECTION 12 - PENSION PICK-UP 

 

A. The Employer's method of payment of salary and the provision of fringe benefits for all 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 13. 

 
 

employees who are members of OPERS (referred to herein as "Covered Employees") 

shall be modified as follows, in order to provide for a salary reduction pick-up and, for 

certain Covered Employees, a fringe benefit pick-up of employee contributions to OPERS, 

in accordance with Code Section 414(h)(2) and the rulings thereunder. 

 

B. The total annual salary and salary per pay period for each Covered Employee shall be the 

salary otherwise payable per-ordinance and applicable Employer policies. Such total annual 

salary and salary per pay period of each Covered Employee shall be payable by the 

Employer in two (2) parts: (1) deferred salary and (2) cash salary. A Covered Employee's 

deferred salary shall be equal to the percentage of his/her total annual salary or salary per 

pay period which is required to be paid to OPERS as an employee contribution under 

OPERS; and such amount shall be paid by the Employer directly to OPERS on behalf of 

the said employee as a "salary reduction pick-up" of the OPERS employee contribution of 

said employee. A Covered Employee's cash salary shall be equal to his/her total annual 

salary or salary per pay period less the amount of the salary reduction pick-up for said 

employee and shall be payable to him, subject to applicable payroll deductions. 

Notwithstanding the preceding, as an additional fringe benefit of employment on behalf 

of Covered Employees the Employer shall pay directly to OPERS, as an employee 

contribution under OPERS, an amount equal to four (4%) percent of the salary of such 

employees in lieu of such amount being deducted from the total annual salary or salary per 

pay period of such employees and paid to OPERS as deferred salary pursuant to the salary 

reduction pick-up. The payment of the said amount in lieu of part of the salary reduction 

pick-up is hereinafter referred to as the "fringe benefit pick-up." The cash salary of Covered 

Employees entitled to the fringe benefit pick-up shall be the total annual salary or salary 

per pay period of such employees less the remaining salary reduction pick-up, subject to 

applicable payroll deductions. 

 

C. The salary reduction pick-up, but not the fringe benefit pick-up, shall be included in the 

Covered Employee's total annual salary for the purpose of computing daily rate of pay, for 

determining paid salary adjustments to be made due to absence, or for any similar purpose. 

 

D. The salary reduction pick-up and fringe benefit pick-up by the Employer of a Covered 

Employee's contributions to OPERS shall be mandatory for all Covered Employees . No 

Covered Employees shall have the option of choosing the pick-up amounts directly instead 

of having them paid by the Employer to OPERS. 

 

E. The Employer shall fulfill its income tax reporting and withholding responsibilities for 

each Covered Employee in such manner as is required by applicable federal, state, and local 

laws and regulations as they may exist at the time of such reporting and withholding, it 

being the Employer's understanding that the fringe benefit pick-up is not subject to any 

income or employment taxes; and that federal and Ohio income tax laws and regulations 

presently require it to report as an employee's gross income his/her total annual salary 

less the amount of the salary reduction pick-up (i.e., his/her cash salary) while applicable 

federal employment tax laws (i.e., the Medicare tax law) require it, and municipal 



 

 

Ordinance No.  Page 14. 

 
 

income tax laws may require it to report as an employee's gross income his/her total 

annual salary including the amount of the salary reduction pick-up. 

 

F. The Employer shall take all acts necessary and appropriate to ensure the c o n t i n u e d  

implementation of this resolution, including but not limited to, making applications to the 

Internal Revenue Service and the Board administering the OPERS program to determine 

the requirements of the Internal Revenue Service and such Board in connection with such 

pick-up plan. The Employer reserves the right to modify the terms of this pick-up to the 

extent it reasonably deems is necessary for obtaining the approval of OPERS and/or the 

Internal Revenue Service. 

 

G. Pension pick-up as set forth above shall apply to the position of Mayor beginning the term 

following the adoption of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 13 - LONGEVITY 

 

A. For all employees covered by this Ordinance, longevity shall be paid according to the 

following schedule. Longevity will be paid in a lump sum on the first pay period 

following the anniversary date of the employee’s employment. Longevity shall 

continue to be awarded on the employee’s successive anniversary date in accordance 

with this schedule.   

 

      5th Anniversary  $   800.00  15th Anniversary $2,000.00  

      6th Anniversary  $   800.00  16th Anniversary $2,100.00 

      7th Anniversary  $   800.00  17th Anniversary $2,200.00 

      8th Anniversary   $1,300.00  18th Anniversary $2,300.00 

      9th Anniversary  $1,400.00  19th Anniversary $2,400.00 

      10th Anniversary  $1,500.00  20th Anniversary $2,500.00 

      11th Anniversary  $1,600.00  21th Anniversary $2,600.00 

      12th Anniversary  $1,700.00  22th Anniversary $2,700.00 

      13th Anniversary  $1,800.00  23th Anniversary $2,800.00 

      14th Anniversary  $1,900.00  28th Anniversary $3,000.00 

 

For all employees hired after the adoption of this agreement, upon an employee’s 

twenty-third (23rd) anniversary date and every year up to his/her twenty-eighth (28th) 

anniversary, the employee shall receive two thousand eight hundred ($2,800.00) 

dollars, annually. Upon his/her twenty-eighth (28th) anniversary date and thereafter, 

the employee shall receive three thousand ($3,000.00) dollars, annually.  In no event 

shall the maximum amount paid under this Section exceed three thousand ($3,000.00) 

dollars, annually, to any single employee 
 

 



DATE:  June 6, 2022  1
ST

 READING: June 6, 2022 

INTRODUCED BY:  Mayor Corcoran  2
ND

 READING:  

REFERRED BY:   3
RD

 READING:   

TEMPORARY NO:    T 88-2022  ADOPTED:  

   EMERGENCY:  

 

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE 

CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE, OHIO, TO ENTER INTO 

A CONTRACT WITH THE OHIO PATROLMEN’S 

BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION (SERGEANTS AND 

LIEUTENANTS) (GOLD UNIT). 

 

 WHEREAS, City Council and the Administration of the City of North Ridgeville, Ohio, 

have conducted extensive negotiations with the Ohio Patrolmen’s Benevolent Association 

(Sergeants and Lieutenants) (Gold Unit) as the bargaining representative for its members and 

such negotiations have resulted in a tentative agreement between the parties. 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE, LORAIN COUNTY, OHIO, THAT: 

SECTION 1.  The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to enter into an agreement 

with the Ohio Patrolmen’s Benevolent Association (Sergeants and Lieutenants) (Gold Unit), 

upon the terms and conditions as substantially (allowing for possible non-substantive 

grammatical corrections or format adjustments) set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and 

made a part hereof as though fully rewritten herein, on behalf of all of the employees in the 

bargaining unit. 

SECTION 2.  Said contract shall be effective January 1, 2021, through December 31, 

2023, and shall be deemed retroactively effective to that date of commencement as to all terms 

therein, except wages and/or compensation as set forth in Exhibit “A”, as if this ratifying 

Ordinance was adopted prior to January 1, 2021. 

 SECTION 3.  It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 

concerning and relating to the adoption of this Ordinance were conducted in an open meeting of 

this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in 

such formal action were in meetings open to the public in accordance with all legal requirements, 

including §121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 SECTION 4.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after the 

earliest period allowed by law. 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 2. 
 

PASSED:___________________________ _________________________________ 

  PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  

 

  ATTEST:_________________________ 

                     CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED:_________________________ _________________________________ 

   MAYOR 
 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 3. 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 4. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 5. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 6. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 7. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 8. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 9. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 10. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 11. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 12. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 13. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 14. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 15. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 16. 
 

 

  



 

Ordinance No.  Page 17. 
 

 
 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 18. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 19. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 20. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 21. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 22. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 23. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 24. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 25. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 26. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 27. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 28. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 29. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 30. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 31. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 32. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 33. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 34. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 35. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 36. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 37. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 38. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 39. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 40. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 41. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 42. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 43. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 44. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 45. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 46. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 47. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 48. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 49. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 50. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 51. 
 
 

 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 52. 
 
 

 



DATE:  June 6, 2022  1
ST

 READING: June 6, 2022 

INTRODUCED BY:  Mayor Corcoran  2
ND

 READING:  

REFERRED BY:   3
RD

 READING:   

TEMPORARY NO:    T 89-2022  ADOPTED:  

   EMERGENCY:  

   

ORDINANCE NO. 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NUMBER 5889-2021 

OF THE CITY OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE, OHIO, PROVIDING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PERIOD COMMENCING 

JANUARY 1, 2022, AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2022. 

 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary to amend the appropriations for certain funds and 

appropriate other amounts for the operations of the City of North Ridgeville, Ohio. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE, LORAIN COUNTY, OHIO: 

 

 SECTION 1.  That to provide for current and other expenditures for the City of North 

Ridgeville, Ohio for the period commencing January 1, 2022, and ending December 31, 2022, 

Ordinance No. 5889-2021 be and the same are hereby supplemented in the following amounts so 

that from and after the effective date of the Ordinance, the appropriation Ordinance shall include 

the following, being adjusted for the similar terms in the preceding appropriation Ordinance. 

 

 SECTION 2.  That there be appropriated from the respective funds listed below, the 

amounts as follows: 

 
  



Ordinance No.  2 

 

 SECTION 3.  That the Auditor of the City of North Ridgeville is hereby authorized to 

draw warrants on the Treasury of the City of North Ridgeville for payments on any of the 

foregoing appropriations, upon receiving proper certification and vouchers therefore, approved 

by officers authorized by law to approve the same or by an ordinance or resolution of Council to 

make the expenditure and provide that no warrants may be drawn or paid for salaries or wages, 

except to persons employed by authority of or in accordance with law or Ordinance. 

 

 SECTION 4.  That it is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 

concerning and relating to the adoption of this Ordinance were in an open meeting of this 

Council and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in such 

formal action were in meetings open to the public in accordance with all legal requirements. 

 

 SECTION 5.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after the 

earliest period allowed by law. 

 

PASSED:___________________________ _________________________________ 

  PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  

 

  ATTEST:_________________________ 

                     CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED:_________________________ _________________________________ 

   MAYOR 
 

 



DATE:  June 6, 2022  1
ST

 READING: June 6, 2022 

INTRODUCED BY:  Mayor Corcoran  2
ND

 READING:  

REFERRED BY:   3
RD

 READING:   

TEMPORARY NO:    T 90-2022  ADOPTED:  

   EMERGENCY:  

   

    RESOLUTION NO. xxxx-2022 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE 

REPAYMENT OF FUND ADVANCES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of North Ridgeville, Ohio, deems it appropriate to 

advance funds with the appropriate approval where necessary; 

 

 WHEREAS, Council adopted Resolution 1539-2021 authorizing the advancement of 

funds from the General Fund to the Performance Lane TIF fund to accommodate Lorain County 

Auditor fees;  

 

 WHEREAS, the City has received the first half of property tax revenue to this fund;  

 

  WHEREAS, City Council deems it appropriate to re-pay the advance made from the 

General Fund;  

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF NORTH RIDGEVILLE, OHIO: 
 

 SECTION 1.  The City Auditor is authorized to re-pay the advancement of funds not to 

exceed the following amounts: 

 
  

 SECTION 2.  It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 

concerning and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting of this 

Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in such 

formal action, were in meetings open to the public, and in compliance with all legal 

requirements, including §121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 

 SECTION 3.  This Resolution is hereby declared to be an emergency measure, the 

emergency being the immediate necessity to meet the Ohio Revised Code requirements.  

Wherefore, this Resolution shall take effect and be in full force and effect immediately upon its 

passage and approval by the Mayor.   

 

 



Resolution No.          Page 2 
 

 

 

PASSED:___________________________ _________________________________ 

  PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  

 

  ATTEST:_________________________ 

                     CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED:_________________________ _________________________________ 

   MAYOR 
 



DATE: June 6, 2022  1
ST

 READING: June 6, 2022 

INTRODUCED BY:  Mayor Corcoran  2
ND

 READING:  

REFERRED BY:   3
RD

 READING:   

TEMPORARY NO:   T 91-2022  ADOPTED:  

   EMERGENCY:  
 

 

ORDINANCE NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING NORTH RIDGEVILLE 

CODIFIED ORDINANCE SECTION 1650.04(b) AS A RESULT 

OF RECENTLY PASSED STATE LAW CONCERNING THE 

DISCHARGE OF FIREWORKS. 
 

 WHEREAS, in keeping with its responsibility to protect the health, safety and general 

welfare of its citizens, the City of North Ridgeville had enacted North Ridgeville Codified 

Ordinances Sections 1560.01 – 1650.99 (Fireworks); and 

 

 WHEREAS, N.R.C.O. Section 1650.04(b) provides:  

 

(b)   Except as provided in Section 1650.05 and except for licensed exhibitors of 

fireworks authorized to conduct a fireworks exhibition pursuant to Ohio R.C. 

3743.50 to 3743.55 and Section 1650.02, no person shall discharge, ignite or 

explode any fireworks in this Municipality; and 

 

 WHEREAS, recently the Governor of Ohio signed H.B. 172, which amends sections of  

O.R.C. Chapter 3743 (effective July 1, 2022). The new amendments allow any person authorized 

to possess consumer-grade fireworks to discharge, ignite or explode fireworks on their property, 

or if permitted, on another person’s property on certain designated days of the year; and 

 

 WHEREAS, H.B. 172 also provides that pursuant to home rule authority, a city may 

choose to restrict the days and times that a person may discharge consumer-grade fireworks.   

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

NORTH RIDGEVILLE, LORAIN COUNTY, OHIO, THAT: 
 

 SECTION 1.  N.R.C.O. Section 1650.04(b) is hereby amended as follows:  

 

(b)   Except as provided in Section 1650.05 and except for licensed exhibitors of 

fireworks authorized to conduct a fireworks exhibition pursuant to Ohio R.C. 

3743.50 to 3743.55 and Section 1650.02, no person shall discharge, ignite or 

explode any fireworks in this Municipality except from 9:00 a.m. through 11:00 

p.m. on the following dates: 

 

    New Year's Day 

    Chinese New Year 



 

Ordinance No.  Page 2. 

 
 

    Cinco de Mayo 

    Memorial Day weekend 

    Juneteenth 

    July 3, 4, and 5, (and the Fridays, Saturdays, and  

    Sundays before and after) 

    Labor Day weekend 

    Diwali 

    New Year’s Eve 

 

SECTION 2.  It is found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 

concerning and relating to the adoption of this Ordinance were conducted in an open meeting of 

this Council and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in 

such formal action were in meetings open to the public in accordance with all legal requirements, 

including §121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

 

 SECTION 3. This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after the 

earliest period allowed by law. 

 

PASSED:___________________________ _________________________________ 

  PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  

 

  ATTEST:_________________________ 

                     CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED:_________________________ _________________________________ 

   MAYOR 


	April_2022_Police_Department_Report.pdf
	April 2022 SSD Report
	April 2022 Support Car (2)




